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Independent Auditor's Report
To the Shareholders of mdf commerce inc.

Opinion
We have audited the consolidated financial statements of mdf commerce inc. (the "Corporation"),
which comprise the consolidated statements of financial position as at March 31, 2022 and 2021, and
the consolidated statements of loss, comprehensive loss, changes in shareholders’ equity and cash
flows for the years then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a
summary of significant accounting policies (collectively referred to as the "financial statements").
In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the
financial position of the Corporation as at March 31, 2022 and 2021, and its financial performance and
its cash flows for the years then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards
("IFRS").

Basis for Opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards
("Canadian GAAS"). Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of
the Corporation in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the
financial statements in Canada, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance
with these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Key Audit Matters
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in
our audit of the consolidated financial statements for the year ended March 31, 2022. These matters
were addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in
forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

Periscope Intermediate Corporation Acquisition — Intangible Assets — Refer to
Notes 3, 5 and 6 to the financial statements
Key Audit Matter Description
The Corporation acquired 100% of the equity of Periscope Intermediate Corporation (“Periscope”) and
recognized the assets acquired and the liabilities assumed at fair value, including intangible assets for
trademark, technology, and customer lists (collectively, “acquired intangible assets”). In determining
the fair value of the acquired intangible assets, management is required to make estimates and
assumptions relating to forecasted revenues, earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and
amortization (“EBITDA”) margins and the appropriate discount rates.

While there are several estimates and assumptions required to determine the fair value of the
acquired intangible assets, those with the highest degree of subjectivity are forecasted revenues,
EBITDA margins and discount rates. This required a high degree of auditor judgment and an increased
extent of audit effort, including the involvement of fair value specialists.
How the Key Audit Matter Was Addressed in the Audit
Our audit procedures related to the estimates and assumptions used to determine the fair value of the
acquired intangible assets included the following, among others:




Evaluated the reasonableness of forecasted revenues and EBITDA margins by comparing forecasts
to:


Historical results of the acquired entity;



Actual results of the acquired entity post acquisition;



Underlying management analyses detailing business strategies and growth plans; and



Industry and peer data, as applicable.

With the assistance of fair value specialists, evaluated the reasonableness of the discount rates by
testing source information underlying the determination of the discount rates and developing a
range of independent estimates and comparing to the discount rates selected by management.

Revenues – Transaction fee model (“TRX model”) agreements – Refer to Notes 3,
5 and 8 to the financial statements
Key Audit Matter Description
The Corporation recognizes revenues from TRX model agreements over time. The total contract value
(“TCV”) of TRX model agreements is allocated to the distinct performance obligations identified within
each agreement. The TCV represents the total convenience fee expected to be collected and is
estimated based on expected customer spend on eligible goods and services over the term of the
agreement, to the extent that it is highly probable that a significant reversal of revenue recognized will
not occur.
Given the significant judgments necessary to estimate the TCV for the TRX model agreements,
auditing such estimates required a high degree of auditor judgment in applying audit procedures and
evaluating the results of those procedures. This resulted in an increased extent of audit effort.
How the Key Audit Matter Was Addressed in the Audit
Our audit procedures related to the reasonableness of the TCV included the following, among others:


Obtained and inspected the executed contracts and amendments to confirm key terms.



Compared the estimate to historical customer spend with the same customer or other similar
contracts, as applicable.



Evaluated growth in customer spend used to estimate the TCV by examining underlying
management analyses detailing business strategies and growth plans and relevant industry data,
as applicable.

Goodwill — Corporation without Periscope cash generating unit (“CGU”) — Refer to
Notes 3 and 14 to the financial statements
Key Audit Matter Description
The Corporation’s evaluation of goodwill for impairment involves the comparison of the recoverable
amount of each CGU to its carrying value. The recoverable amount of the Corporation without
Periscope CGU (“identified CGU”) is based on fair value less costs of disposal, which uses a market
approach based on valuation multiples and precedent transactions. In determining the recoverable
amount of the identified CGU, management made significant estimates and assumptions related to
revenue multiples of comparable companies and precedent market transactions, and revenue for the
next twelve months. The fair value of the identified CGU exceeded its carrying value as of the
measurement date and, therefore, no impairment was recognized.

While there are several estimates and assumptions required to determine the recoverable amount of
the identified CGU, the estimates and assumptions with the highest degree of subjectivity are the
revenue multiple and revenue for the next twelve months. Auditing these estimates and assumptions
required a high degree of auditor judgement in applying audit procedures and evaluating the results of
those procedures. This resulted in an increased extent of audit effort including the involvement of fair
value specialists.
How the Key Audit Matter Was Addressed in the Audit
Our audit procedures related to revenue multiple and revenue for the next twelve months included the
following, among others:


Evaluated management’s ability to accurately revenue for the next twelve months by comparing
actual results to management’s historical forecasts.



Evaluated the reasonableness of management’s revenue for the next twelve months by comparing
the forecasts to:





Historical results;



Internal communications to management and the Board of Directors;



Forecasted information included in the Corporation’s press releases as well as in analyst and
industry reports for the Corporation and certain of its peer companies.

With the assistance of fair value specialists, evaluated the reasonableness of the revenue multiple
by analyzing comparable public company multiples and precedent market transactions and
developing a range of independent revenue multiples and comparing to the one selected by
management.

Revenue — Refer to Note 8 to the financial statements
Key Audit Matter Description
The Corporation derives the majority of its revenue from rights of use and transaction fees from the ebusiness industry. Revenue comprises a significant volume of low-dollar transactions, sourced from
multiple systems, databases, and other tools that are generally customized and specific to the
Corporation. The initiation, processing and recording of revenue are highly automated and are based
on contractual terms with customers.
Given the Corporation’s revenue transactions are highly automated, there are potential risks arising
from the initiation, processing and recording of revenue. As such, auditing the Corporation’s various
information technology (“IT”) systems to process revenue transactions resulted in an increased extent
of audit effort, which included the involvement of IT specialists.
How the Key Audit Matter Was Addressed in the Audit
Our audit procedures related to the Corporation’s systems to process revenue transactions included
the following, among others:




With the assistance of IT specialists:


Evaluated the significant systems used to process revenue transactions and tested the
effectiveness of general IT controls over each of these systems, including user access controls,
change management controls and IT operations controls.



Evaluated the effectiveness of controls of the interfaces and relevant automated controls in
relation to the completeness and accuracy of transactions recorded and transferred across
systems, from the initial capturing to the recording into the general ledger.

Performed detail transaction testing by agreeing a sample of the amounts recognized in the IT
systems to source documents such as invoices, usage records and contracts, and by testing the
mathematical accuracy of the recorded revenue.

Other Information
Management is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises Management's
Discussion and Analysis.
Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express
any form of assurance conclusion thereon. In connection with our audit of the financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information identified above and, in doing so, consider whether
the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge
obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.
We obtained Management's Discussion and Analysis prior to the date of this auditor’s report. If, based
on the work we have performed on this other information, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact in this auditor’s report. We
have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the
Financial Statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in
accordance with IFRS, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable
the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to
fraud or error.
In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Corporation’s
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and
using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the
Corporation or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.
Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Corporation's financial reporting
process.

Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report
that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee
that an audit conducted in accordance with Canadian GAAS will always detect a material misstatement
when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually
or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users
taken on the basis of these financial statements.
As part of an audit in accordance with Canadian GAAS, we exercise professional judgment and
maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:


Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to
fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error,
as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override
of internal control.



Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Corporation's internal control.



Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by management.



Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting
and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Corporation's ability to continue as a going
concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in
our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to
the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Corporation
to cease to continue as a going concern.



Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.



Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or
business activities within the Corporation to express an opinion on the financial statements. We
are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned
scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.
We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant
ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and
other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable,
related safeguards.
From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those matters
that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current
period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor's report
unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare
circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the
adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest
benefits of such communication.
The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s report is David Pain.

/s/ Deloitte LLP
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CPA auditor, public accountancy permit No. A129221
June 29, 2022
Montréal, Québec

Consolidated Statements of Loss
For the years ended March 31, 2022 and 2021
In thousands of Canadian dollars
except number of shares and loss per share amounts

Revenues (Note 8)

2022

2021

$

$

108,259

84,719

Cost of revenues

46,911

30,035

Gross margin

61,348

54,684

Operating expenses
General and administrative

29,010

18,098

29,108
28,770

20,397
22,980

86,888

61,475

(25,540)

(6,791)

Selling and marketing
Technology (Note 19)

Operating loss
Foreign exchange gain (loss)

285

Finance expenses (Note 23b))
Change in fair value of purchase price contingent consideration (Note 25)
Loss before income taxes
Income tax recovery (Note 21)
Net loss for the year

(1,427)

(1,305)
(294)

(991)
-

(26,854)

(9,209)

(2,916)

(1,618)

(23,938)

(7,591)

(0.64)

(0.38)

Loss per share (Note 18)
Basic and diluted
Weighted average number of shares outstanding
Basic and diluted
Number of shares outstanding at end of year (Note 16b))

37,367,735

19,752,379

43,970,943

28,404,116

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements

Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Loss
For the years ended March 31, 2022 and 2021

In thousands of Canadian dollars
Net loss for the years

2022
$

2021
$

(23,938)

(7,591)

(88)

1,006

(387)

122

Other comprehensive (loss) income items:
Items that may be reclassified subsequently to loss:
Change in unrealized gains (losses) on foreign currency
forward contracts, net of deferred taxes of $32 ($326 in 2021)
Reclassification of realized gains (losses) on foreign currency
forward contracts, net of deferred taxes of $139 ($83 in 2021)
Translation adjustments on financial instruments designated
as net investment hedge
Foreign exchange differences on translation of foreign
operations

(71)

-

(1,860)

-

Total other comprehensive (loss) income

(2,406)

1,128

Comprehensive loss for the years

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements

(26,344)

(6,463)

Consolidated Statements of Financial Position
As at March 31, 2022 and 2021
As at
March 31,

As at
March 31,

In thousands of Canadian dollars

2022
$

2021
$

Assets
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Cash held for the benefit of third parties (Note 10)
Trade and other receivables (Note 8)
Current portion of unbilled receivables (Note 8)
Income taxes receivable
Current portion of tax credits receivable
Prepaid expenses and deposits
Derivative financial instruments

5,985
20,544
11,935
8,540
2,660
10,727
5,251
22

109,637
1,145
8,922
1,680
1,989
9,653
3,483
645

65,664

137,154

7,400
2,258
8,917
100,777
273,397
2,858
3,580

580
2,097
9,765
19,507
101,029
6,268

464,851

276,400

21,193

12,212

Non-current assets
Unbilled receivables (Note 8)
Deferred financing costs
Property and equipment (Note 11)
Right-of-use assets (Note 12)
Intangible assets and acquired intangible assets (Note 13)
Goodwill (Note 14)
Tax credits receivable
Deferred tax assets (Note 21)
Liabilities
Current liabilities
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
Other accounts payable (Note 10)

20,544

1,145

Deferred revenues (Note 8)

30,797

20,310

Current portion of purchase price contingent consideration

49

-

Income taxes payable

84

224

Current portion of long-term debt (Note 15)

1,500

94

Current portion of lease liabilities (Note 12)

2,013

1,882

76,180

35,867

Non-current liabilities
Purchase price contingent consideration

680

-

Long-term debt (Note 15)

48,262

1,406

Deferred tax liabilities (Note 21)

13,049

5,920

7,739

8,640

145,910

51,833

336,621
2,821
(20,501)

216,975
4,155
3,437

318,941

224,567

464,851

276,400

Lease liabilities (Note 12)
Shareholders’ equity
Share capital (Note 16)
Reserves
Retained earnings (deficit)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements
Approved by the Board of Directors,
/s/ Jean-François Sabourin , Director
Jean-François Sabourin

/s/ Luc Filiatreault , Director
Luc Filiatreault

Consolidated Statements of Changes in Shareholders’ Equity
For the years ended March 31, 2022 and 2021
Year ended March 31, 2022
Reserves

In thousands of Canadian dollars
Balance as at March 31, 2021

Total

$

$

$

Stock option
plan

$

$

216,975

3,680

475

4,155

-

-

-

-

-

-

(2,406)

-

-

(2,406)

117,971

-

-

-

-

117,971

1,675

-

-

-

-

1,675

-

1,072

-

1,072

-

1,072

336,621

4,752

Comprehensive loss for the year

Balance as at March 31, 2022

Total

Retained
earnings
(Deficit)

Share
capital

Net loss for the year
Other comprehensive loss items for the
year, net of income taxes

Issuance of common shares – net of
issuance costs (Note 16b))
Deferred income tax related to share
issuance costs (Note 16b))
Compensation under the stock option
plan (Note 17 b))

Accumulated
other
comprehensive
loss
$

3,437

224,567

(23,938)

(23,938)

(2,406)

-

(2,406)

(2,406)

(23,938)

(26,344)

(1,931)

2,821

(20,501)

318,941

Year ended March 31, 2021
Reserves

In thousands of Canadian dollars
Balance as at March 31, 2020
Net loss for the year
Other comprehensive income for the year,
net of income taxes
Comprehensive income (loss) for the year
Issuance of warrants as part of a bought
deal offering (Note 16)
Exercise of warrants (Note 16)
Issuance of common shares as part of a
bought deal offering – net of issuance
costs (Note 16b))
Deferred income tax related to share
issuance costs (Note 16b))
Compensation under the stock
option plan (Note 17 b))
Balance as at March 31, 2021

Share
capital

Stock
option
plan

$

$

Accumulated
other
comprehensive
Warrants
loss
$

$
(653)

Total

Retained
earnings
(Deficit)

Total

$

$

$

79,251

3,213

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

1,128

1,128

-

-

-

1,128

1,128

1,168

-

-

290
(290)

134,047

-

-

-

2,509

-

-

-

467

216,975

3,680

290
(290)

2,560

11,028
(7,591)
(7,591)

92,839
(7,591)
1,128
(6,463)

-

290
878

-

-

134,047

-

-

-

2,509

-

-

467

-

467

-

475

4,155

3,437

224,567

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
For the years ended March 31, 2022 and 2021
In thousands of Canadian dollars
CASH FLOWS RELATED TO
Operating activities
Net loss for the years
Adjustments for the following items:
Amortization and depreciation (Note 20)
Amortization of deferred financing costs (Note 23b))
Gain on lease modifications and adjustments
Interest expense (Note 23b))
Change in fair value of purchase price contingent consideration
Share-based compensation (Note 17 b))
Unrealized foreign exchange loss
Deferred income tax (recovery) expense (Note 21a))
Current income tax (recovery) expense (Note 21b))
Changes in non-cash working capital items (Note 23a))
Changes in non-current unbilled receivables
Changes in non-current tax credits receivable
Interest received (paid)
Income taxes received (paid)
Net cash inflow from operating activities
Investing activities
Business combinations, net of cash acquired (Note 6)
Purchase price contingent consideration paid
Acquisition of property and equipment
Acquisition of intangible assets

2022
$

2021
$

(23,938)

(7,591)

14,337
368
(81)
836
294
1,072
200
(1,690)
(1,226)
14,691
(2,343)
(2,858)
362
239

9,767
135
856
467
1,568
(1,056)
(562)
(2,145)
(248)
(30)

263

1,161

(227,439)
(533)
(547)
(4,774)

(6,866)
(531)
(3,553)

(233,293)

(10,950)

64,158
(25,787)
(868)
(516)
(2,491)
114,140
-

23,500
(49,005)
(536)
(685)
(1,620)
134,337
878

Net cash inflow from financing activities

148,636

106,869

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents for the years

(84,394)

97,080

Net cash outflow from investing activities
Financing activities
Increase in long-term debt
Repayment of long-term debt
Interest paid on long-term debt
Deferred financing costs
Lease payments
Issuance of common shares – net of issuance costs (Note 16b))
Exercise of warrants (Note 16c))

Effect of foreign exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents

141

(1,474)

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of years

110,782

15,176

Cash and cash equivalents at end of years

26,529

110,782

5,985
20,544

109,637
1,145

Cash and cash equivalents consist of the following statements of financial
position items:
Cash and cash equivalents
Cash held for the benefit of third parties

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the years ended March 31, 2022 and 2021
1

Incorporation and nature of operations
mdf commerce inc. (formerly "Mediagrif Interactive Technologies Inc.") (the “Corporation”)
provides e-business solutions to consumers and businesses. It operates its activities through
its wholly-owned subsidiaries. The Corporation’s shareholders approved the name change from
Mediagrif Interactive Technologies to mdf commerce on September 23, 2020.
The Corporation, incorporated on February 16, 1996 under the Canada Business Corporations Act, is
listed on the Toronto Stock Exchange (the “TSX”) under the ticker symbol “MDF.” Its head office is
located at 1111 St-Charles West, East Tower, Suite 255, Longueuil, Quebec, Canada.
The Corporation’s Board of Directors approved the consolidated financial statements for the years
ended March 31, 2022 and 2021 on June 29, 2022.

2

Basis of presentation
Compliance with IFRS
The Corporation prepares its consolidated financial statements in accordance with International
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS). The accounting policies applied in these consolidated
financial statements are based on IFRS issued and effective as at March 31, 2022.
The Corporation has prepared and presented these consolidated financial statements in Canadian
dollars.
Basis of measurement
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared using the historical cost method, except
for certain financial assets or liabilities measured at fair value through profit or loss.
Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the consideration given in exchange for goods
and services. Fair value is defined as the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to
transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date.
These consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a going-concern basis.

3

Significant accounting policies
Significant accounting policies
This note provides a list of significant accounting policies adopted in the presentation of these
consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the years ended March 31, 2022 and 2021
Subsidiaries
Subsidiaries are those entities which the Corporation controls. The Corporation controls the investee
when it is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee and has
the ability to affect those returns through its power over the investee. Subsidiaries are consolidated
from the date on which control is obtained by the Corporation and are deconsolidated from the
date that control ceases.
All the Corporation’s subsidiaries are wholly owned by the Corporation, directly or indirectly.
These consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Corporation and the entities it
controls (its subsidiaries).
All intercompany transactions and balances are eliminated on consolidation.
Change in functional currency of U.S subsidiaries
In accordance with IAS 21 The Effects of Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates (“IAS 21”), management
had historically determined that the functional currency of all the entities of the Corporation’s
consolidated group was the Canadian dollar. Per IAS 21, an entity’s functional currency should be
determined based on the underlying transactions, events and conditions relevant to the entity.
Based on management’s assessment, taking into consideration the primary economic environment
in which the Corporation’s U.S. subsidiaries carry on their business, management has determined
that the functional currency of all the Corporation’s U.S. subsidiaries has changed from the
Canadian dollar to the U.S. dollar on October 1, 2021. This assessment was triggered by the
Corporation’s acquisition of Periscope Intermediate Corporation, a U.S subsidiary, on August 31, 2021,
by the internal integration activities that followed that acquisition, and considering the significance
of U.S. dollar transactions on the Corporation’s consolidated results, financial position and cash
flows. Management concluded that the functional currency of all the U.S subsidiaries is the U.S. dollar
as most of the transactions are in U.S. dollar and because the level of autonomy of the subsidiaries
has significantly increased.
In accordance with IAS 21, the change in functional currency was applied prospectively from
October 1, 2021, and all assets, liabilities and equity were translated to U.S. dollars, which is the new
functional currency, at the foreign exchange rate on the effective date.
Foreign operations
The assets and liabilities of foreign operations, including goodwill and fair value adjustments arising
on acquisition, are translated into Canadian dollars using exchange rates prevailing at the end of
each reporting period. Revenues and expenses are translated at the average exchange rates for
the period, unless exchange rates fluctuated significantly or significant transactions occurred during
that period, in which case the exchange rates at the date of the transactions are used.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the years ended March 31, 2022 and 2021
Foreign exchange differences arising from the translation of foreign operations are recognized as
foreign currency translation adjustments in other comprehensive income (loss) and accumulated
in shareholders’ equity.
Foreign currency translation
The Corporation’s presentation currency is the Canadian dollar. The functional currency of the
Corporation’s entities in Canada is also the Canadian dollar.
Transactions denominated in currencies other than the entity’s functional currency (foreign
currencies) are recognized at the rate of exchange prevailing on the transaction date.
Monetary items are translated at the rate in effect on the reporting date, and non-monetary items,
including the related amortization and depreciation, are translated at their historical rate, whereas
revenues and expenses are translated at the average exchange rate. Foreign exchange gains and
losses are included in foreign exchange gain (loss) on the Consolidated Statements of Loss.
Financial instruments
The Corporation classifies financial instruments into categories based on their nature and
characteristics. Management determines where to classify financial instruments when they are
initially recognized, which is usually the transaction date.
A financial asset is impaired if objective evidence indicates that a loss event has occurred after the
initial recognition of the asset, and that the loss event had a negative effect on the estimated future
cash flows of that asset that can be estimated reliably.
All financial-instrument-related costs are reported in “Finance expenses.”
Effective interest rate method
The effective interest rate method is a method of calculating the amortized cost of a financial asset
or liability and of allocating the interest income or interest expense over the relevant period. The
effective interest rate is the rate that discounts estimated future cash flows (including all
commissions that are an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs, and other
premiums or discounts) over the expected life of the financial asset or liability or, when appropriate,
a shorter period.
Transaction costs consist primarily of legal, accounting, and underwriter fees and other costs
directly attributable to the issuance of the related financial instruments.
Deferred financing costs
Financing costs that are incremental and directly attributable to a borrowing are recognized against
long-term debt and are amortized using the effective interest rate method over the expected term
of the borrowing facility. When the borrowing facility is paid in full, the deferred financing costs are
presented as an asset because they are attached to a borrowing facility that still exists and is still
available for use.
8

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the years ended March 31, 2022 and 2021
Financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
All financial instruments included in this category meet the definition of financial assets or financial
liabilities held for trading. Held-for-trading financial instruments are instruments that are held for
the purpose of selling them in the short term. Derivative financial instruments are included in this
category unless they are a designated and effective hedging instrument.
The financial instruments included in this category are initially and subsequently recognized at fair
value. Directly attributable transaction costs and changes in fair value are recognized in profit or
loss. Financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are classified as current except
for the portion expected to be realized or received beyond 12 months of the consolidated statement
of financial position date, which is classified as non-current.
Financial assets at amortized cost
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that
are not quoted in an active market. They are presented in current assets when they are recoverable
within 12 months of the end of the reporting period; otherwise, they are classified as non-current
assets. The Corporation includes cash and cash equivalents as well as trade and other receivables
in this category. Financial instruments included in this category are initially recognized at fair value
plus directly attributable transaction costs. Thereafter, loans and receivables are measured at
amortized cost using the effective interest rate method.
The Corporation recognizes a loss allowance in respect of expected credit losses on loans and
receivables. The amount of expected credit losses is updated on each reporting date to reflect
changes in credit risk that have occurred since the initial recognition of the corresponding financial
instrument. The Corporation recognizes an expected credit loss in respect of the lifetime loans and
receivables. The expected credit losses on these financial assets are estimated using a provision
matrix based on the Corporation’s credit loss experience, after making adjustments to take into
account factors specific to receivables, the economic environment including the COVID-19
pandemic and an assessment of both the current as well as the forecast direction of conditions at
the reporting date, including the time value of money, if applicable.
For all other financial instruments, the Corporation recognizes lifetime expected credit losses where
credit risk has increased significantly since the instruments were initially recognized.
However, if the credit risk on a financial instrument has not increased significantly since initial
recognition, the Corporation measures the loss allowance for that financial instrument at an
amount equal to 12-month expected credit losses.
Recognition and measurement of expected credit losses
Where financial assets are concerned, expected credit losses are assessed as the difference
between all contractual cash flows due to the Corporation in accordance with the contract and all
the cash flows that the Corporation expects to receive, discounted at the original effective interest
rate.
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If the Corporation has measured the loss allowance for a financial instrument at an amount equal
to lifetime expected credit losses in the previous reporting period but determines at the current
reporting date that the conditions for lifetime expected credit losses are no longer met, the
Corporation measures the loss allowance at an amount equal to 12-month expected credit losses
at the current reporting date, except for assets in respect of which the simplified approach was used.
Derivative financial instruments and hedge accounting
The Corporation uses foreign currency forward contracts to manage its exposure to foreign
exchange rate fluctuations on its foreign operations. Management is responsible for setting
acceptable levels of risk and does not use derivative financial instruments for speculative purposes.
More detailed information on derivative financial instruments is provided in Note 25.
Designation as a hedge is permitted only if the changes in the fair value of the hedging item are
expected to substantially offset the changes in the fair value of the hedged item attributable to the
risk being hedged. This offset must be provided for at the inception of the hedge and throughout the
hedge period.
The Corporation formally documents all relationships between hedging instruments and hedged
items as well as the risk management objectives and strategy behind its various hedging activities.
The Corporation also formally documents and measures, at the inception of the hedge and
continuously thereafter, whether the derivative financial instruments used as a hedge are highly
effective at offsetting the anticipated changes in the fair value of the hedged items.
Gains and losses on derivative financial instruments not identified in a hedging relationship and
gains and losses related to the “ineffective” portion of effective hedges are recognized in operating
expenses.
Hedge accounting is discontinued prospectively if the hedging instrument or hedged item is
terminated or sold or if it is determined that the hedging instrument is no longer effective.
Cash flow hedging
Following the change in functional currency described in note 3, the Corporation discontinued the
cash flow hedging involving its foreign currency forward contracts and re-designated them as part
of a net investment hedge.
Before the change in functional currency, the Corporation designated foreign currency forward
contracts as cash flow hedges of forecasted revenues in foreign currencies. For cash flow hedges,
the change in fair value of the effective portion of the derivative is recorded in “Other comprehensive
income” and the change in fair value of the ineffective portion of the derivative is recorded directly
in profit or loss. Amounts recognized in other comprehensive income were reclassified to profit or
loss when the hedged item affected profit or loss. Regarding forecasted revenues, the effective
portion of the hedge derivative was reclassified to profit or loss in the period in which such sales are
recognized.
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However, when a planned transaction was subsequently recognized as a non-financial asset,
amounts recognized in other comprehensive income were reclassified to the initial carrying amount
of the associated asset.
Net investment hedges
Net investment hedges in foreign operations are accounted for similarly to cash flow hedges. Any
gain or loss on the hedged instrument relating to the effective portion of the hedge is recognized
in other comprehensive income (loss) in the consolidated statements of changes in shareholders’
equity.
The gain or loss relating to the ineffective portion of the hedge is recognized in the consolidated
statements of loss. Gains and losses accumulated in shareholders’ equity are partially or entirely
transferred to the consolidated statements of loss if a foreign operation is disposed of.
Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents include cash, bank balances and short-term highly liquid investments
with original maturities of three months or less that are readily convertible to known amounts of
cash and for which the risk of changes in fair value are negligible.
Escrow transactions
The Corporation offers an escrow service. As part of this service, the Corporation is named as an
escrow agent to receive, hold and transfer funds. The Corporation receives cash that is released to
the seller, less any related fees, costs or charges, once the transaction between seller and buyer is
finalized. The cash received is presented in the Consolidated Statements of Financial Position as
“Cash held for the benefit of third parties.”
The offsetting entry is presented in the Consolidated Statements of Financial Position as “Other
accounts payable.”
Revenue recognition
The Corporation’s revenues, which are derived from the e-commerce industry are generated from
rights of use (subscription services), transaction fees, professional services, managed services,
software maintenance and hosting services.
Revenues are recognized when control of the good or service is transferred to a customer, in an
amount that reflects the consideration (transaction price) that the Corporation expects to be
entitled to in exchange for those goods or services provided over the term of the contract with the
customer and excludes amounts collected on behalf of third parties. Revenue is measured as the
amount of consideration that the Corporation expects to receive, including the variable
consideration, and net of discounts, volume rebates, service penalties and incentives.
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Variable consideration is estimated using the expected value or the most likely amount method and
is recognized only to the extent that it is highly probable that a significant reversal in the amount of
cumulative revenue recognized will not occur when the uncertainty associated with the variable
consideration is subsequently resolved. In making this judgement, management considers the
information at its disposal at the reporting period (historical, current and forecasted information),
the Corporation’s knowledge of the customer or industry, the type of services to be provided and
the contractual terms of each agreement.
After the initial determination of the TCV at inception of the contract, the transaction price can
change for various reasons, including the resolution of uncertain events or other changes in
circumstances that change the amount or timing of the transaction price, the consideration to
which the Corporation expects to be entitled to in exchange for the promised goods and services to
the government agencies, changes in the assessment of whether the variable consideration is
constrained or a contract modification. At the end of each reporting period, the Corporation reviews
the TCV, and assesses the key assumptions. Changes to the TCV could result in additional revenue
or a reduction in revenue based on a cumulative adjustment from inception of the contract with
customer to the current reporting period. Changes in the revenue would have an impact on the
amount allocated to the SaaS performance obligation as the residual and would affect the
corresponding contract asset or liability.
Agreements that include multiple deliverables require the Corporation to determine whether they
contain separately identifiable performance obligations. The total transaction price, determined at
the inception of the contract, is allocated to each performance obligation based on the relative
stand-alone selling prices. Where these are not directly observable, they are estimated based on
an expected cost-plus margin approach or a residual approach.
Estimates of revenues, costs or the extent of progress towards completion are revised if
circumstances change. Any resulting increases or decreases in estimated revenues or costs are
reflected in profit or loss in the period in which the circumstances that give rise to the revision
become known to management.
Revenue from transaction-based fees are recognized when the order transaction occurs.
If the contract includes an hourly fee, revenue is recognised in the amount to which the Corporation
has a right to invoice or to collect cash.
The Corporation’s contracts with customers include the following performance obligations, which
are determined to be separate from each other if the promises to provide services are separate
from the rights of use within the context of the contract:
Rights of use (subscription services)
The Corporation derives right of use (subscription) revenues by providing cloud-based software as
a service to customers in which the customer does not have the right to take possession of the
software but can use the software for the contracted term.
12

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the years ended March 31, 2022 and 2021
The performance obligation is satisfied over-time and as such revenues from right of use of fixedprice contracts and a transaction fee model agreement (TRX) applicable to certain government
eprocurement, as described below, are recognized on a straight-line basis over the term of the
contract, beginning on the date the solution is made available to the customer. For contracts where
the fee is based on order volumes, transaction fees are recognized when the transaction occurs, as
the service is used.
Professional services
Professional services provided with subscriptions consist of implementation fees, configuration,
support services and training. These services do not normally involve significant customization of
the software and are not considered essential to the functionality.
Revenues from professional services are recognized using the percentage-of-completion method
when the performance obligation is met over time. The extent of completion is determined by
dividing the cumulative hours at the end of the reporting period by the sum of the cumulative hours
incurred at the end of the reporting period and the estimated number of hours to complete the
contract. Revenues for fixed price services are generally recognized over time applying input
methods to estimate progress of completion.
Managed services
The Corporation may provide managed services to customers. Revenue is recognized over time as
such services are performed.
Maintenance services
Software maintenance agreements provide technical support and the right to unspecified
upgrades on an if-and-when-available basis. Revenue from maintenance agreements is deferred
and recognized on a straight-line basis over the term of the agreement.
Hosting services
The Corporation may provide hosting services to customers for which the contracts provide for
periodic renewal clauses. Revenue from hosting services is deferred and recognized on a straightline basis over the term of the agreement.
Payment Terms
Payment terms and conditions vary by contract type, although terms generally include a
requirement for the customer to make payment within 30 to 90 days of the invoice date and include
no general rights of return. In instances where the timing of revenue recognition differs from the
timing of invoicing, the Corporation has determined that contracts do not include a significant
financing component.
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Under TRX model agreements, suppliers must report eligible spend and remit the convenience fee
payable (variable consideration) typically within 90 days following the calendar quarter end, either
remitting the full convenience fee to the customer who in turn remits the Corporation’s portion of
the revenue-share to the Corporation, or remitting the full convenience fee to the Corporation, who
then remits the portion of the revenue-share to the customer.
Contract Balances
The timing of revenue recognition, billings and cash collections result in either billed accounts
receivable, unbilled receivables (contract assets), or deferred revenues (contract liabilities).
Unbilled receivables
Unbilled receivables (contract assets) represent amounts for which the Corporation has recognized
revenue since the performance obligation has been satisfied, but the customer will be billed in the
future, or cash will be collected in arrears, and for which the Corporation believes it has an
unconditional right to payment. Contract assets for which the collection is expected within the
succeeding twelve-month period are recorded as current unbilled receivables and the remaining
portion is recorded as long-term unbilled receivables on the consolidated statements of financial
position. The Corporation must make assumptions and estimates of future cash flows to determine
the current portion of unbilled receivables and judgement must therefore be exercised.
Deferred revenues
Deferred revenues (contract liabilities) represent amounts collected from customers in advance of
the performance obligations for which services will be performed in the future and therefore the
revenue recognition criteria have not yet been met. The Corporation recognizes contract liabilities
as revenues upon satisfaction of the underlying performance obligations. Contract liabilities that
are expected to be recognized as revenues during the succeeding twelve-month period are
recorded in current deferred revenue and the remaining portion is recorded in long-term deferred
revenue on the consolidated statements of financial position. Deferred revenue consists primarily of
unearned revenue related to right of use and maintenance services.
Contract costs
The Corporation incurs incremental costs of obtaining a contract with a customer, such as sales
commissions paid to employees and certain third parties. When the Corporation expects these
costs to be recovered, and the related contracts have a term of more than one year, these costs are
capitalized and amortized them over the term of the contract or over the expected life of the
customer relationship based on historical data and management’s judgement.
The incremental costs of obtaining a contract are included in sales and marketing expenses in the
Corporation’s consolidated statements of profit (loss). Deferred contract costs are reviewed for
impairment whenever events or circumstances indicate their carrying value may not be
recoverable, consistent with the Corporation’s long-lived assets policy. There were no impairments
during the years ended March 31, 2022 and 2021.
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Transaction fee model (TRX model)
Under a TRX model agreement, the Corporation provides software as a service, and professional
services to customers. The TRX model agreement is applicable to certain government
eprocurement customers.
Under the TRX model agreement, the transaction price is entirely variable. Variable consideration is
based on a percentage of the dollar value of the eligible goods and services purchased by the
customers.
Right of use revenue from the Corporation’s solution and revenue for professional services rendered
including implementation and managed services are earned and collected through a supplier-paid
convenience fee.
Principal vs Agent
The Corporation follows the guidance provided in IFRS 15, Principal versus Agent Considerations for
determining whether revenue should be recognized based on the gross amount billed to a customer
or the amount retained.
Provisions
Provisions are recognized when the Corporation has a present legal or constructive obligation as a
result of a past event, when it is probable that the Corporation will be required to settle the obligation,
and when a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.
The amount recognized as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration required to settle
the present obligation at the end of the financial reporting period, taking into account the risks and
uncertainties surrounding the obligation. When a provision is measured using the cash flows
estimated to settle the present obligation, its carrying amount is the present value of those cash
flows.
Provisions for contracts generating revenue shortfalls are recognized when the inevitable costs
associated with the contract’s performance exceed the total estimated revenues from the contract.
Management regularly reviews the profitability of agreements as well as the underlying estimates.
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Property and equipment
Property and equipment are recognized at historical cost less accumulated depreciation and
accumulated impairment losses, if any. Depreciation is recognized over the estimated useful lives
of the related assets using the following method and period or term:
Office furniture
Computer and other equipment
Leasehold improvements

Method

Period

Straight-line
Straight-line
Straight-line

3-7 years
3 years
Lesser of lease term and useful life

The assets’ estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation methods are reviewed at the
end of each financial reporting period, and the impact of any change in estimates is accounted for
on a prospective basis.
An item of property and equipment is derecognized upon disposal or when no future economic
benefits are expected to arise from the continued use of the asset. A gain or loss arising on the
disposal or retirement of an item of property and equipment is the difference between the proceeds
and the carrying amount of the asset and is recognized in the Consolidated Statements of Loss.
Impairment of long-lived assets, excluding goodwill
At the end of each financial reporting period, the Corporation reviews the carrying amounts of its
property and equipment and finite-life intangible assets to determine whether there is any
indication that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the
recoverable amount of the asset is estimated to determine whether there is an impairment loss.
Where it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the Corporation
estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. Where
a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can be identified, corporate assets are also
allocated to individual cash-generating units; otherwise, they are allocated to the smallest group of
cash-generating units for which a reasonable and consistent allocation basis can be identified.
Intangible assets not yet available for use are tested for impairment at least once a year and
whenever there is an indication that the asset may be impaired.
The recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in use. To measure
value in use, estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a discount rate
that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the
asset for which the estimates of future cash flows have not been adjusted.
If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-generating unit) is estimated to be less than its
carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset (or the cash-generating unit) is reduced to its
recoverable amount. An impairment loss is immediately recognized in profit or loss.
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Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset (or a cashgenerating unit) is increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount to the extent that
the increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been
determined had no impairment loss been recognized for the asset (or cash-generating unit) in prior
years. A reversal of an impairment loss is immediately recognized in profit or loss.
Intangible assets
Intangible assets are comprised of software, internally generated assets and acquired intangible
assets.

Software and internally generated assets
Software purchased to meet the Corporation’s technology needs are recognized at cost less
accumulated amortization and accumulated impairment losses. Intangible assets also include
costs to produce internally developed software and websites, including the portion of capitalized
labour costs of the Corporation’s development group, net of related tax credits and wage subsidies.
These costs are equivalent to the expenses incurred as of the date on which all of the following have
been demonstrated:


The technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so that it will be available for use
or sale;



The intention to complete the intangible asset and use or sell it;



The ability to use or sell the intangible asset;



How the intangible asset will generate probable future economic benefits;



The availability of adequate technical, financial and other resources to complete the
development and to use or sell the intangible asset; and



The ability to measure reliably the expenditure attributable to the intangible asset during its
development.

Where no internally-generated intangible asset can be recognized, development expenses are
recognized in profit or loss in the period they are incurred. After initial recognition,
internally-generated intangible assets are recorded at cost less accumulated amortization and
impairment losses. These costs are amortized on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful
lives ranging from three to five years.

Acquired intangible assets
Acquired intangible assets consist of customer lists, technologies and trademarks. They are
recorded at cost (i.e., the acquisition-date fair value), less accumulated amortization and
impairment losses.

17

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the years ended March 31, 2022 and 2021
Acquired intangible assets are amortized on a straight-line or declining basis over their respective
estimated useful lives and using the following periods:
Category

Period

Customer lists
Technology
Trademarks

2 to 10 years
3 to 7 years
15 years

The estimated useful lives and amortization methods of intangible assets are reviewed at the end
of each financial reporting period, and the impact of any change in estimates is accounted for on
a prospective basis.
Intangible assets are derecognized upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected from their use or disposal. Gains or losses arising from derecognition of an intangible
asset, measured as the difference between the net proceeds from the disposal of the asset and its
carrying amount, are recognized in profit or loss when the asset is derecognized.
Business combinations
Business acquisitions are accounted for under the acquisition method. The consideration
transferred in a business combination is measured at fair value which is calculated as the sum of
the acquisition-date fair values of assets transferred and the liabilities incurred by the Corporation
to the former owners of the acquiree, and the equity interests issued by the Corporation in exchange
for control of the acquiree. Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.
At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed are recognized
at the acquisition-date fair value, except:


Deferred tax assets or liabilities and liabilities or assets related to employee benefit
arrangements that are recognized and measured in accordance with IAS 12, Income Taxes
and IAS 19, Employee Benefits, respectively;



Liabilities or equity instruments related to share-based payment arrangements of the
acquiree or share- based payment arrangements of the Corporation entered into to replace
share-based payment arrangements of the acquiree, which are measured in accordance
with IFRS 2, Share-Based Payment at the acquisition date;



Assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as held for sale in accordance with IFRS 5, NonCurrent Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations, which are measured in
accordance with that standard.

Deferred revenues from business combinations are recorded at fair value. This corresponds to the
future costs to perform the services, the collection of which took place before the acquisition, plus a
profit margin. This profit margin is the average margin that the Corporation realizes to provide the
same kind of service.
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The fair value of acquired intangible assets is determined as follows:
Trademarks are recognized at fair value according to the royalty relief method. Acquired technology
is measured using the replacement cost method or the royalty relief method. The replacement cost
method estimates the cost to rebuild a platform by adding the estimated loss of profits during the
reconstruction. The multiperiod excess earnings method is used to calculate the value of customer
lists. The royalty relief method, the replacement cost method, and the multiperiod excess earnings
method are all primarily based upon anticipated discounted cash flows according to currently
available information, such as historical and projected revenues and expenses, the renewal
probability of each contract, and certain other relevant assumptions.
Goodwill is measured as the excess of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non
controlling interests in the acquiree and the fair value of the equity interest previously held by the
acquirer in the acquiree (if any) over the net balance of the acquisition-date amounts of the
identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed. If, after remeasurement, the net balance of the
acquisition-date amounts of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed exceeds the
total consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interests in the acquiree, and the
fair value of the equity interest previously held by the acquirer in the acquiree in the acquiree (if
any), the excess amount is recognized immediately in the Consolidated Statements of Loss as a
bargain purchase gain.
Goodwill
Goodwill arising from a business combination is recognized at cost as established at the date of
acquisition of the business (see Business Combinations) less accumulated impairment losses, if
any.
For impairment testing purposes, goodwill is allocated to each of the Corporation’s cash generating
units (or groups of cash-generating units) that is expected to benefit from the synergies of the
combination.
A cash-generating unit to which goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment annually or
more frequently when there is an indication that the unit may be impaired. If the recoverable
amount of the group of cash-generating units is less than its carrying amount, the impairment loss
is first allocated to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the unit and then to the
other assets of the unit on a pro-rata basis based on the carrying amount of each asset in the unit.
Any impairment loss for goodwill is recognized directly in profit or loss in the Consolidated
Statements of Loss. An impairment loss recognized on goodwill is not reversed in subsequent
periods.
The Corporation has selected March 31 as the date for performing its annual goodwill impairment
tests.
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Provisions
Provisions are recognized when the Corporation has a present legal or constructive obligation as a
result of a past event, when it is probable that the Corporation will be required to settle the obligation,
and when a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.
The amount recognized as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration required to settle
the present obligation at the end of the financial reporting period, taking into account the risks and
uncertainties surrounding the obligation. When a provision is measured using the cash flows
estimated to settle the present obligation, its carrying amount is the present value of those cash
flows.
Provisions for contracts generating revenue shortfalls are recognized when the inevitable costs
associated with the contract’s performance exceed the total estimated revenues from the contract.
Management regularly reviews the profitability of agreements as well as the underlying estimates.
Leases
At inception of a contract, the Corporation assesses whether the contract is, or contains, a lease. A
contract is, or contains a lease if it conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset.
All leases are recognized in the Consolidated Statements of Financial Position through the
recognition of a right-of-use asset and a lease liability, except for leases with a term of 12 months
or less and leases for which the underlying asset is of low value, which are recognized in profit or
loss on a straight-line basis over the lease term.
Right-of-use assets are reported on the Consolidated Statements of Financial Position and are
initially measured at cost, which comprises the initial measurement of the corresponding liability,
lease payments made before the commencement day, less any lease incentives received and any
initial direct costs.
They are subsequently measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.
Depreciation is calculated over the lease term or the estimated useful life, whichever is shorter.
The lease liability is reported on the Consolidated Statements of Financial Position and is measured
at the amortized cost using the effective rate method. It is initially measured at the present value of
future lease payments using the implicit rate of the lease, if it can be readily determined, or the
Corporation’s incremental borrowing rate. Lease payments include in the measurement of the lease
liability comprise:


fixed lease payments (less any lease incentive available);



variable payments that depend on an index or rate, initially measured using the index or
rate at the commencement date;



amount expected to be payable by the lessee under residual value guarantees;



payments for extension, termination or purchase options that are reasonably certain to be
exercised.
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When lease payments include amounts relating to non-rental components, they are included in the
calculation of the lease liability.
Income taxes
Income tax expense is the sum of current taxes and deferred taxes.

Current taxes
Current tax payable is based on taxable income for the year. Taxable income and income reported
in the Consolidated Statements of Loss differ due to revenue or expense items that are taxable or
deductible in other years and items that are never taxable or deductible. The Corporation’s liability
for current taxes is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by
the end of the financial reporting period.

Deferred taxes
The Corporation recognizes income taxes using the asset-liability approach. Under this method,
deferred tax assets and liabilities are determined based on deductible or taxable timing differences
between the carrying amounts and tax bases of assets and liabilities using enacted or substantively
enacted tax rates expected to be in effect in the year in which the timing differences are expected
to reverse. Such deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognized if the temporary difference
arises from goodwill or from the initial recognition (other than in a business combination) of other
assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable income nor the accounting
income.
The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of each financial reporting period
and is reduced when it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable income will be available to allow
all or part of the asset to be recovered.
The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the tax consequences that would
follow from the manner in which the Corporation expects, at the end of the financial reporting period,
to recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

Current and deferred taxes for the year
Current and deferred taxes are recognized in profit or loss, except when they relate to items that
have been recognized in other comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case the current
and deferred taxes are also recognized, respectively, in other comprehensive income or directly in
equity. Where current taxes or deferred taxes arise from the initial accounting for a business
combination, the tax impact is included in the accounting for the business combination.
Tax credits
Tax credits, including research and development tax credits, are not recognized until there is
reasonable assurance that the Corporation will meet the eligibility criteria of the credits and that
they will be received.
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Tax credits are recognized as a reduction to the related expenses in the year they are incurred or
capitalized when they are related to internally developed software and websites.
Employee benefits
Salaries, employee benefits, paid leave, sick leave and bonuses are short-term benefits that are
recognized in the period in which the Corporation’s employees have rendered the related services.
Government assistance
Government assistance is accounted for in the Consolidated Statements of Loss when the
Corporation meets the requirements of the support programs and collection is reasonably assured.
Government assistance that is received, but that is conditionally refundable, is accounted for in the
Consolidated Statements of Loss as long as the repayment conditions are not likely to be met.
Government assistance provided to offset expenses is reported in the Consolidated Statements of
Loss as a reduction of the related expenses.
Share-based payment
The Corporation grants stock options to directors, officers and employees that are settled by issuing
common shares. It establishes a compensation expense in respect of these options granted based
on the fair value of each tranche of options at the grant date. The compensation expense is
recognized in the Consolidated Statements of Loss over the vesting period for each tranche based
on the number of options that should ultimately vest. The Corporation estimates stock options
forfeited when granted and revises these estimates in subsequent periods if the actual number of
lapses differs from these estimates. The corresponding amount is recognized in reserves as a
component of equity.
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4

New and revised IFRS
a) Adopted in the current year
During the year, the Corporation adopted the Phase 2 amendments Interest Rate Benchmark
Reform – Amendments to IFRS 9, IAS 39, IFRS 7, IFRS 4 and IFRS 16. Adopting these amendments
enables the Corporation to reflect the effects of transitioning from interbank offered rates to
alternative benchmark interest rates (also referred to as ‘risk free rates’) without giving rise to
accounting impacts that would not provide useful information to users of financial statements. The
exceptions allow for prior period comparatives not to be restated to reflect these amendments.
The amendments were effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2021, with earlier
application permitted. The Corporation has evaluated the impact of this standard and determined
that there is no impact on its consolidated financial statements.
b) Issued but not yet effective
IAS 1, Presentation of Financial Statements
On January 23, 2020, the IASB issued amendments to IAS 1, Presentation of Financial Statements
regarding the classification of liabilities as current or non-current.
These amendments clarify that the classification of liabilities as either current or non-current should
be based on the entity’s rights at the end of the reporting period and make clear the link between
the settlement of the liability and the outflow of the entity’s resources. These amendments are
effective for fiscal years beginning on or after January 1, 2023 and should be applied retrospectively.
The Corporation does not intend to early adopt these amendments and is assessing their impact
on its consolidated financial statements.
IFRS 3, Business Combinations
The amendments update IFRS 3 so that it refers to the 2018 Conceptual Framework instead of the
1989 Framework. They also add to IFRS 3 a requirement that, for obligations within the scope of IAS 37,
an acquirer applies IAS 37 to determine whether at the acquisition date a present obligation exists
as a result of past events. For a levy that would be within the scope of IFRIC 21 Levies, the acquirer
applies IFRIC 21 to determine whether the obligating event that gives rise to a liability to pay the levy
has occurred by the acquisition date. Finally, the amendments add an explicit statement that an
acquirer

does

not

recognize

contingent

assets

acquired

in

a

business

combination.

The amendments are effective for business combinations for which the date of acquisition is on or
after the beginning of the first annual period beginning on or January 1, 2022. While early application
is permitted, the Corporation has not early adopted these amendments and is currently assessing
the impact of these changes on its consolidated financial statements.
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IAS 37, Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets
The amendments specify that the ‘cost of fulfilling’ a contract comprises the ‘costs that relate
directly to the contract’. Costs that relate directly to a contract consist of both the incremental costs
of fulfilling that contract (examples would be direct labour or materials) and an allocation of other
costs that relate directly to fulfilling contracts (an example would be the allocation of the
depreciation charge for an item of property, plant and equipment used in fulfilling the contract).
The amendments apply to contracts for which the entity has not yet fulfilled all its obligations at the
beginning of the annual reporting period in which the entity first applies the amendments.
Comparatives are not restated. Instead, the entity shall recognize the cumulative effect of initially
applying the amendments as an adjustment to the opening balance of retained earnings or other
component of equity, as appropriate, at the date of initial application. The amendments apply to
the Corporation for fiscal years beginning on or after January 1, 2022. While early application is
permitted, the Corporation has not early adopted these amendments and is currently assessing
the impact of these changes on its consolidated financial statements.
IAS 16, Property, Plant and Equipment
In September 2020, IAS 16, Property, Plant and Equipment was amended to prohibit the deduction
from the cost of an item of property and equipment of any proceeds from selling items produced
before the asset is available for use. The proceeds from selling this property and equipment, as well
as the related costs, will instead be recognized in profit or loss. The amendments apply to the
Corporation for fiscal years beginning on or after January 1, 2022. While early application is
permitted, the Corporation has not early adopted these amendments and is currently assessing the
impact of these changes on its consolidated financial statements.
5

Management’s significant estimates and judgements
In preparing consolidated financial statements in accordance with IFRS, management must make
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during
the period, the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, and the disclosure of contingent assets
and liabilities at the reporting date. Management reviews its estimates at each reporting period, and
revisions to accounting estimates are recognized in the period in which the estimate is revised if the
revision affects only that period or in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision
affects both the period being reviewed and future periods. Actual results may differ from these
estimates.
Estimates
In preparing consolidated financial statements in accordance with IFRS, management must
exercise judgement when applying accounting policies and rely on assumptions and estimates that
affect the amounts of the assets, liabilities, revenues, and expenses reported in these consolidated
financial statements. The actual results of items subject to assumptions and estimates may differ
from these assumptions and estimates.
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Explanations about the main assumptions and estimates are presented below:
Risk and uncertainty related to COVID-19
The current global economic situation is highly unstable due to the coronavirus pandemic (“COVID19”), declared on March 11, 2020 by the World Health Organization. COVID-19 uncertainty had
no significant impact for the year ended March 31, 2022 other than the Canada Emergency Wage
Subsidy (refer to Note 20).
The Corporation continues to review the potential impact of the pandemic on its financial position
and profitability should the duration, spread or intensity of the pandemic develop further. It is
impossible to predict with certainty the duration and full extent of the economic impact of COVID19 in the short and long term.
A prolonged period of economic downturn could affect the estimates and judgements used in
preparing the consolidated financial statements, including, but not limited to, the following
items: impairment of goodwill, impairment of intangible assets, expected losses from revenue
contracts and expected credit losses.

Useful lives of property and equipment and finite-life intangible assets
At the end of each reporting period, the Corporation reviews the estimated useful lives of its property
and equipment and finite-life intangible assets. At the end of the current fiscal year, management
has determined that the useful lives of property and equipment and finite-life intangible assets were
appropriate.

Measurement of assets
When applying the discounted future cash flows model to determine the fair value of groups of
cash-generating units to which goodwill is allocated, certain parameters must be used, including
estimates of future cash flows, discount rates and other variables; a high degree of judgement must
therefore be exercised. Impairment tests on property and equipment, on intangible assets, and on
acquired intangible assets are also based on similar assumptions. Any future deterioration in
market conditions or poor operational performance could translate into an inability to recover the
current carrying amounts of property and equipment, intangible assets, acquired intangible assets,
and goodwill.

Business combinations
For business combinations, the Corporation must make assumptions and estimates to determine
the purchase price allocation of the business being acquired. To do so, the Corporation must
determine the acquisition-date fair values of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities
assumed. Goodwill is measured as the excess of the acquisition cost over the fair value of all
identified assets and liabilities.
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These assumptions and estimates have an impact on the asset and liability amounts recorded in
the Consolidated Statements of Financial Position on the acquisition date. In addition, the estimated
useful lives of the acquired property and equipment, the identification of other intangible assets,
and the determination of the finite or indefinite useful lives of intangible assets acquired will have
an impact on the Corporation’s profit or loss.

Deferred taxes
The Corporation is required to estimate the income taxes in each of the jurisdictions in which it
operates. This includes estimating a value for existing net operating losses based on the
Corporation’s assessment of its ability to utilize them against future taxable income before they
expire. If the Corporation’s assessment of its ability to use the net operating losses proves
inaccurate, this would impact the income tax expense and, consequently, affect the Corporation’s
profit or loss in the relevant year.
The Corporation may be audited by the tax authorities of different jurisdictions. Given that the
determination of tax liabilities involves some uncertainties in interpreting complex tax regulations,
the Corporation uses management’s best estimates to determine potential tax liabilities.
Differences between the estimates and the actual amount of taxes are recorded in profit at the time
they can be determined.
Judgements
The critical accounting policy judgements that have the greatest impact on amounts reported in
the consolidated financial statements include the following:

Definition of cash-generating units
The Corporation assesses whether there are any indicators of impairment for all non-financial
assets at the end of each financial reporting period. If any such indication exists, the recoverable
amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine the amount of the impairment loss (if any).
When it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the Corporation
estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.
Determination of cash-generating units is based on management’s best estimate of what
constitutes the lowest level at which an asset or group of assets is able to generate cash inflows.
The Corporation must also determine whether goodwill can be attributed to one or more
cash-generating units.
See Note 14 for more information on allocation of goodwill to cash-generating units.
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Revenue recognition of multiple deliverable arrangements
Assessing whether the deliverables within an arrangement are separate performance obligations
requires judgement by management. A deliverable is identified as a separate performance
obligation if the customer benefits from it on its own or together with resources that are readily
available to the customer and if it is separately identifiable from the other deliverables in the
contract. The Corporation assesses if the deliverables are separately identifiable in the context of
the contract by determining if it is highly interrelated with other deliverables in the contract. If these
criteria are not met, the deliverables are accounted for as a combined performance obligation.
The Corporation is required to make estimates that affect the amount of revenue from contracts
with customers, including estimating the stand-alone selling prices of products and services.

Estimating variable consideration of TRX model agreements
Under the TRX model agreement, the transaction price is based entirely on variable consideration
that is a significant estimate. The total contract value (TCV) represents the total convenience fee
expected to be collected over the contract term, estimated based on a percentage of the
customer’s spend on eligible goods and services over the contract term. Customers spend is
estimated based on historical purchases of goods and services and estimated growth from
customers over the contract term.
Revenue recognized based on the TCV involves management judgement and significant
assumptions including estimating the amount of government agency spend on eligible goods and
services on which the convenience fees are estimated over the term of the contract, and on the
collectability of convenience fees from suppliers.
After the initial determination of the TCV at inception of the contract, the transaction price can
change for various reasons, including the resolution of uncertain events or other changes in
circumstances that change the amount or timing of the transaction price, the consideration to
which the Corporation expects to be entitled to in exchange for the promised goods and services
to the government agencies, changes in the assessment of whether the variable consideration is
constrained or a contract modification. At the end of each reporting period, the Corporation reviews
the TCV, and assesses the key assumptions. Changes to the TCV could result in additional revenue
or a reduction in revenue based on a cumulative adjustment from inception of the contract with
customer to the current reporting period. Changes in the revenue would have an impact on the
amount allocated to the SaaS performance obligation as the residual and would affect the
corresponding contract asset or liability.

Allocation of the TCV to performance obligations in a TRX Model
The TRX model agreement includes performance obligations of right of use and professional
services including implementation and managed services. For revenue recognition purposes the
total transaction price (TCV) is first allocated to professional services based on a cost-plus a profit
margin approach, and the residual amount is allocated to the right of use.
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Changes in the revenue recognized from professional services would have an impact on the
amount allocated to the right of use performance obligation as the residual.

Determination of the reportable segment
Operating segments are determined according to the Corporation’s management structure and
internal information system. Operating results of each reportable segment are reviewed regularly
by the Corporation's chief operating decision-maker regarding the resources to be allocated to the
segments and the assessment of their performance based on available discrete financial
information.
Management has identified a single operating segment, i.e., that of e-commerce. The information
structure indicates how management manages the Corporation and how it classifies its activities
for planning and evaluating performance. As a result, management manages its business line as a
single strategic business unit.

Functional currency
In order to determine the functional currency of its foreign subsidiaries, the Corporation considers
primary and secondary indicators in accordance with IAS 21. When the indicators are mixed and the
functional currency is not obvious, management uses judgement to determine the functional
currency that most faithfully represents the economic effects of the underlying transactions, events
and conditions. As described in Note 3, during the year ended March 31, 2022, management
concluded that the functional currency of all its U.S subsidiaries is the U.S. dollar since most of the
transactions for the primary and secondary indicators are in U.S. dollars and because the level of
autonomy of the subsidiaries has significantly increased since the Periscope acquisition.
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6

Business combinations
Year ended March 31, 2022
Periscope Intermediate Corporation
On August 31, 2021, the Corporation, through a U.S. subsidiary, acquired all the issued and
outstanding shares of Periscope Intermediate Corporation (“Periscope”), a public eProcurement
platform in the U.S. The acquisition will allow the Corporation to strengthen its position in the North
American public eProcurement market.
The final purchase price consideration was $232,681,564 (US$184,419,088), including closing and
post-closing cash, indebtedness, unpaid transaction costs and working capital adjustments. The
purchase price was settled by available cash on hand of $54,436,970, borrowing on the Term facility
(Note 15) of $20,187,200 (US$16,000,000), borrowings on the Revolving Facility in U.S dollars of
$20,691,880 (US$16,400,000) and $12,500,000 in Canadian dollars, a bought deal public offering with
gross proceeds of $67,840,000, private placements with gross proceeds of $52,619,112 and the
issuance to the seller of $3,830,974 newly issued shares of the Corporation. Total purchase
consideration includes a receivable of $610,278 (US$483,695) related to an indemnification clause
and a contingent consideration with a fair value estimated at $978,550 (US$775,502). The final
working capital adjustment of $207,156 (US$164,188) was paid to the seller on January 5, 2022.
The acquisition meets the definition of a business in accordance with IFRS 3, Business Combinations.
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Assets acquired and liabilities assumed at the acquisition date
Preliminary
allocation as

In thousands of Canadian dollars

previously
reported

Adjustments

Final
allocation

$

$

$

Assets
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents

1,043

-

1,043

Trade and other receivables

2,971

-

2,971

5,175

-

5,175

37

-

37

1,166

-

1,166

10,392

-

10,392

Current portion of unbilled receivables
Income taxes receivable
Prepaid expenses and deposits
Non-current assets
Unbilled receivables

8,000
459

Property and equipment

779

Right-of-use assets

-

Intangible assets
Acquired intangible assets

(2,943)

5,057

45

504

28

807

14

14

93,038

(4,530)

88,508

112,668

(7,386)

105,282

Liabilities
Current liabilities
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities i)

18,411

336

18,747

Deferred revenues

3,167

-

3,167

11,010

-

11,010

439

(27)

Current portion of long-term debt
Current portion of lease liabilities

i)

412

33,027

309

33,336

14,846

(1,394)

13,452

Non-current liabilities
Deferred tax liabilities
Lease liabilities

341

54

395

48,214

(1,031)

47,183

Identifiable net assets acquired

64,454

(6,355)

58,099

Goodwill

168,681

5,902

174,583

Net assets acquired

233,135

i)

(453)

232,682

Immediately after closing on August 31, 2021, certain acquisition-related transaction costs included in accounts payable

and accrued liabilities totalling $12.5 million as well as the current portion of long-term debt of $11.0 million were repaid by
the Corporation.
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The purchase price allocation presented above has been finalized. Adjustments were made to the
provisional amounts previously disclosed mainly due to changes in certain assumptions affecting
the fair value measurement of unbilled receivables and acquired intangible assets.
Total purchase consideration
In thousands of Canadian dollars
Cash consideration transferred

i)

Adjustment relating to working capital assumed

$
228,275
207

Shares issued

3,831

Receivable related to an indemnification clause

(610)

Purchase price contingent consideration

979
232,682

i)

Including $3.6 million (US$2.8 million) cash held in escrow. On January 5, 2022, an amount of $2.9 million (US $2.25 million)

was released from the cash escrow account and the remaining balance related to tax escrow will be released in August
2022.

Related to the acquisition, a cash bonus pool of an amount of $4,100,525 (US$3,250,000) was
established following the closing of the transaction. Any portion of the cash bonus pool not
ultimately paid to employees, with pre-determined conditions over the 7-month and 19-month
periods following the closing of the transaction, will be paid to the seller as additional purchase
price. The fair value of the purchase price contingent consideration was estimated at $978,550 at
the acquisition date. An amount of up to $2,828,275 (US$2,241,638) will be payable in cash to certain
employees if they are employed by the Corporation or its affiliates at two milestones of March 31,
2022 and March 31, 2023. This amount has not been included in the consideration transferred, as it
represents compensation for future services; it will therefore be recognized as an expense during
the 7-month and 19-month periods following the closing of the transaction.
Acquisition-related costs
Acquisition-related costs of $4,769,262, that were not directly attributable to the issue of shares or
long-term debt are included in General and Administrative expenses in the Consolidated
Statements of Loss and in operating cash flows in the Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows in the
periods in which they were incurred.
Determination of fair value
The identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed are recognized at the acquisition-date
fair value.
Trade and other receivables, unbilled receivables, prepaid expenses and deposits, and accounts
payable and accrued liabilities arising from a business combination are recognized at their fair
value, which is not substantially different from their gross contractual value and expected receipts
or expected disbursements.
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Deferred revenues from business combinations are recorded at fair value. This corresponds to the
future costs to perform the services, the collection of which took place before the acquisition, plus a
profit margin. This profit margin is the average margin expected to be realized for the delivery of the
same kind of service.
The fair value of acquired intangible assets is determined as follows:
The acquired technology and the trademark is evaluated at fair value based on the relief-fromroyalty method. The multiperiod excess earnings method is used to calculate the value of customer
relationships. The relief-from-royalty method and the multiperiod excess earnings method are all
primarily based upon anticipated discounted cash flows according to currently available
information, such as historical and projected revenues and expenses, the renewal probability of
each contract, and certain other relevant assumptions.
Goodwill is measured as the excess of the total consideration, over the net balance of the
acquisition-date amounts of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed.
Goodwill arising from the business combination
The goodwill recognized from this business combination is not deductible for tax purposes. Goodwill
of $174,582,848 arises mainly from the synergies with other activities of the Corporation, the
economic value of the expertise of the workforce acquired as well as intangible assets that do not
meet the criteria for separate recognition.
Impact of the business combinations on the Corporation’s financial performance
The following table presents the impact of Periscope on the Corporation’s revenues and net loss
from the acquisition date to March 31, 2022:
In thousands of Canadian dollars

$

Revenues (including a negative fair value adjustment on deferred revenues of $5,447)

16,585

Net loss

(4,591)

If this business combination had been completed on April 1, 2021, the Corporation’s consolidated
revenues for the year ended March 31, 2022 would have been as follows:
In thousands of Canadian dollars
Revenues (including a negative fair value adjustment on deferred revenues of $6,849)
Net loss (including an amortization expense of $9,537 related to acquired intangible
assets)

$
118,929
(28,936)

The Corporation considers the pro forma figures to be an approximate measurement of the
financial performance of the combined business over a twelve-month period.
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However, pro forma information does not account for synergies or historical transactions and is not
necessarily

indicative

of

the profit

that

the

Corporation

would

have

realized

if

the

acquisition had actually occurred on April 1, 2021, nor of the profit that may be achieved in the
future.
To determine the Corporation’s pro forma consolidated revenues and profit as if Periscope had
been acquired on April 1, 2021, the Corporation:
 calculated the amortization of acquired intangible assets based on the fair value arising from
the initial recognition of the business combination rather than on the carrying amounts
recognized in the pre-acquisition financial statements;
 calculated the depreciation of the right-of-use assets based on the fair value at acquisition;
 calculated revenues including the fair value adjustment of deferred revenues at the
acquisition date;
 calculated the borrowing costs on the Corporation’s net indebtedness as at the date of the
business combination;
 calculated the effect of the fair value adjustment on the contingent consideration;
 calculated the employee compensation expense related to the employee retention bonus;
 calculated an additional income tax recovery to reflect the pro forma adjustments described
above.
Year ended March 31, 2021
Vendor Registry
On November 18, 2020, the Corporation, through a subsidiary, acquired substantially all of the assets
and assumed limited specific liabilities of Vendor Registry, Inc., (“Vendor Registry”), a provider of
sourcing solutions in the U.S., for a cash consideration of $6,859,975 (US$5,250,000), subject to
subsequent adjustments to working capital and deferred revenues assumed. This acquisition meets
the definition of a business in IFRS 3, Business Combinations.
This acquisition added U.S buyers and suppliers nationwide to the Corporation’s strategic sourcing
platform, thereby strengthening its position on the U.S. market.
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Assets acquired and liabilities assumed at the acquisition date
In thousands of Canadian dollars

Allocation
$

Assets
Current assets
Trade and other receivables
Prepaid expenses and deposits

48
12
60

Non-current assets
Acquired intangible assets
Customer lists

2,992
3,052

Liabilities
Current liabilities
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
Deferred revenues

15
348
363

Identifiable net assets acquired
Goodwill
Net assets acquired

2,689
4,177
6,866

The purchase price allocation presented above has been finalized.
Total purchase consideration
In thousands of Canadian dollars
Cash consideration transferred
Unfavourable adjustment relating to working capital and
deferred revenues assumed

$
6,860
6
6,866

Acquisition-related costs
The acquisition-related costs totalled $245,249, and they are included in General and administrative
expenses in the Consolidated Statements of Loss in the year in which they were incurred.
Determination of fair value
At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed are recognized
at the acquisition-date fair value.
Trade and other receivables, prepaid expenses and deposits and accounts payable and accrued
liabilities arising from a business combination are recognized at their fair value, which is not
substantially different from their gross contractual value and expected receipts and disbursements.
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Deferred revenues from business combinations are recorded at fair value. This corresponds to the
future costs to perform the services, the collection of which took place before the acquisition, plus a
profit margin. This profit margin is the average margin the Corporation realizes for the delivery of
the same kind of service.
The fair value of acquired intangible assets is determined as follows:
The multi-period excess earnings method is used to calculate the value of customer lists. This
method is primarily based upon future discounted cash flows according to currently available
information, such as historical and projected revenues and expenses, the probability of renewal of
each contract, and other relevant assumptions.
Goodwill is measured as the excess of the total consideration, over the net balance of the
acquisition-date amounts of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed.
Goodwill arising from the business combination
The goodwill recognized from this business combination is deductible for tax purposes. Goodwill of
$4,177,000 arises mainly from the synergies with other activities of the Corporation, the economic
value of the expertise of the workforce acquired as well as intangible assets that do not meet the
criteria for separate recognition.
Impact of the business combinations on the Corporation’s financial performance
The following table presents the impact of the acquisition on the Corporation’s revenues and net
loss for the year ended March 31, 2021:
In thousands of Canadian dollars
Revenues (including a negative fair value adjustment on deferred
revenues at closing of $193)

Net loss

$
440
(419)

If this business combination had been completed on April 1, 2020, the Corporation’s consolidated
revenues for the year ended March 31, 2021 would have been as follows:
In thousands of Canadian dollars
Revenues (including a negative fair value adjustment on deferred
revenues at closing of $237)

Net loss (including an additional amortization expense of $427
related to acquired intangible assets)

$
85,526
(8,056)

The Corporation considers the pro forma figures to be an approximate measurement of the
financial performance of the combined business over a twelve-month period. However, pro forma
information does not account for synergies or historical transactions and is not necessarily
indicative of the profit that the Corporation would have realized if the acquisition had actually
occurred on April 1, 2020, nor of the profit that may be achieved in the future.
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To determine the Corporation’s pro forma consolidated revenues and profit if Vendor Registry had
been acquired on April 1, 2020, the Corporation:


calculated the amortization of acquired intangible assets based on the fair value arising
from initial recognition of the business combination rather than the carrying amounts
recognized in the pre-acquisition financial statements;



calculated the revenues according to the fair value of deferred revenues at the acquisition
date.

7

Segment information
The Corporation has determined that there is only one reportable segment, e-commerce services.
Geographical information is as follows:
In thousands of Canadian dollars

2022
$

2021
$

55,989
43,289

37,901
40,434

6,907
2,074

5,261
1,123

108,259

84,719

As at
March 31,

As at
March 31,

2022

2021

$

$

Revenues
United States
Canada
Europe
Asia and other

In thousands of Canadian dollars
Non-current assets
United States
Canada
Asia and other

295,570

33,022

97,114
65

99,376
-

392,749

132,398

Revenues are attributed to countries based on the location of customers.
The total non-current assets, other than financial instruments and deferred taxes include property
and equipment, right-of-use assets, intangible assets, acquired intangible assets, goodwill, unbilled
receivable and tax credits receivable.
As at March 31, 2022, non-current assets presented above exclude deferred financing cost of nil
($580,237 as at March 31, 2021), and deferred tax assets of $3,579,862 ($6,268,000 as at March
31, 2021).
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Revenues
Revenues are detailed as follows:
2022
In thousands of Canadian dollars

$

2021
$

Revenues from rights of use

76,634

62,037

Revenues from professional services
Revenues from transaction fees

20,399
9,345

12,380
8,611

560
1,321

1,164
527

108,259

84,719

Revenues from maintenance and hosting services
Other

Contract assets and liabilities
Below are the receivables, contract assets, and contract liabilities recognized in the Consolidated
Statements of Financial Position:
In thousands of Canadian dollars
Receivables (included in trade and other receivables)
Contract assets (included in unbilled receivables)
Deferred revenues

2022

2021

$

$

11,935

8,922

15,940
30,797

1,680
20,310

2022

2021

$

$

Contract assets
The change in contract assets is as follows:
In thousands of Canadian dollars
Balance at beginning of years
Increase from business combinations

1,680
10,232

Increase in contract assets related to stage of completion
Decrease in contract assets related to billing or collection

10,175
(6,099)

3,099
(2,246)

(48)

(4)

Foreign exchange and other movements
Balance at end of years

15,940

831
-

1,680

In finalizing the purchase price accounting related to the acquisition of Periscope, management
updated certain assumptions that impacted the August 31, 2021 total contract value (TCV) for the
TRX model arrangements. The change in the opening balance sheet TCVs resulted in a cumulative
adjustment in revenue from August 31, 2021 to March 31, 2022 of $2,213,678 which was recorded during
the year ended March 31, 2022.
All contract assets included in the current portion of unbilled receivable as at March 31, 2022 are
expected to be collected from customers within the following year.
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There were no impairment losses recognized on receivables and contract assets arising from
contracts with customers during the years ended March 31, 2022 and 2021.
The Corporation did not provide for an allowance for doubtful accounts on unbilled amounts, as at
March 31, 2022 and 2021, as amounts were deemed collectible.
Deferred revenues
The following table contains information related to deferred revenues (contract liabilities):
In thousands of Canadian dollars
Balance at beginning of years
Increase in deferred revenues upon customer invoicing
Increase in deferred revenues from business combinations
Decrease in deferred revenues upon recognition in revenues of services
rendered during the periods
Fair value adjustments on business combinations
Foreign exchange and other movements
Balance at end of years

2022

2021

$

$

20,310
60,967

17,796
18,510

3,167

-

(58,895)
5,447
(199)
30,797

(16,635)
639
20,310

Deferred revenues arise mainly from prepaid rights-of-use or professional services revenue.
Remaining Performance Obligations
Transaction prices for unfulfilled (or partially fulfilled) performance obligations represent services
that have not yet been recognized, that will be recognized as revenue in future periods. The total
was $30,796,810 as at March 31, 2022 ($19,881,071 as at March 31, 2021), approximately 93% of which
the Corporation expects to account for as revenues within the next 12 months and 7% in subsequent
fiscal years (96% and 4% respectively in 2021).
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Subsidiaries
The Corporation’s subsidiaries as at March 31, 2022 are set out in the table below. Unless otherwise
stated, they have share capital solely in ordinary shares that are held directly or indirectly by the
Corporation.
Country of
incorporation or

Ownership

Percentage

Industry sector serviced by

registration and
operation

interest
percentage

of voting
rights

the electronic commerce
solutions of the Corporation

Canada
Canada

100
100

100
100

eprocurement
eprocurement

United States
United States

100
100

100
100

eprocurement
eprocurement

Canada

100

100

Contract management
solutions

Vendor Registry
Periscope Holdings Inc.

United States
United States

100
100

100
100

eprocurement
Holding company

Periscope Intermediate Corp.
Orckestra Technologies Inc.

United States
Canada

100
100

100
100

eprocurement
ecommerce solution

Denmark
Canada

100
100

100
100

ecommerce solution
ecommerce solution

KCentric USA Inc.
InterTrade Systems Inc.

United States
Canada

100
100

100
100

ecommerce solution
Supply chain collaboration

The Broker Forum Inc.
Power Source On-Line, Inc.

Canada
United States

100
100

100
100

Electronic components
Computer equipment,

Subsidiary name
MERX Networks Inc.
4222661 Canada Inc.
International Data Base Corp.
Construction Bidboard Inc.
ASC Networks Inc.

Orckestra A/S
KCentric Technologies Inc.

telecommunications and
consumer electronics
Carrus Technologies Inc.
Polygroup, Ltd.
Jobboom Inc.
Réseau Contact Inc.
Market Velocity, Inc.

Canada
United States

100
100

100
100

Automotive aftermarket
Diamonds and jewelry

Canada

100

100

Employment and talent
acquisition

Canada
United States

100
100

100
100

Online dating
Computer equipment,
telecommunications and
consumer electronics

TIM USA Inc.
Mediagrif Information
Consulting (Shenzhen) Co. Ltd.
3808891 Canada Inc.

United States
China

100
100

100
100

Holding company
Electronic components

Canada

100

100

Holding company
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Cash held for the benefit of third parties
The amount received as at March 31, 2022 for the escrow services provided by The Broker Forum Inc.
and presented in the Consolidated Statements of Financial Position as “Cash held for the benefit of
third parties” amounted to $20,543,775 (US$16,440,281) ($1,145,073 in 2021 (US$910,595)) and is fully
offset by the amount presented as “Other accounts payable”.

11

Property and equipment
Property and equipment consist of the following:

In thousands of Canadian dollars

Office

Computer
and other

Leasehold

furniture

equipment

improvements

$

$

$

Total
$

For the year ended March 31, 2022
Opening carrying amount

481

947

669

2,097

Additions
Additions from business combinations

8
157

539
177

170

547
504

(101)
(199)

(683)
197

(182)
2

(966)
-

Depreciation
Reclassification
Foreign exchange
Closing carrying amount

(2)

16

62

76

344

1,193

721

2,258

2,375

13,838

2,251

18,464

(1,530)

(16,206)

Balance, March 31, 2022
Cost
Accumulated depreciation
Closing carrying amount

(2,031)
344

(12,645)
1,193

721

2,258
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In thousands of Canadian dollars

Office

Computer
and other

Leasehold

furniture

equipment

improvements

Total

$

$

2,495

$

$

For the year ended March 31, 2021
Opening carrying amount

560

1,174

761

Additions
Depreciation

(79)

531
(758)

(92)

Closing carrying amount

481

947

669

2,615

12,806

2,046

17,467

(1,377)

(15,370)

669

2,097

531
(929)
2,097

Balance, March 31, 2021
Cost
Accumulated depreciation
Closing carrying amount

12

(2,134)
481

(11,859)
947

Leases
The leases mainly include office spaces with remaining terms of 1 to 10 years. Some of these leases
include renewal options. The Corporation does not have the option to acquire leased assets at the
end of the lease term.
Right-of-use assets
Right-of-use assets include the following:
Total
In thousands of Canadian dollars

$

For the year ended March 31, 2022
Opening carrying amount
Additions
Additions from business combinations
Lease modifications and adjustments
Depreciation
Foreign exchange
Closing carrying amount

9,765
693
807
(58)
(2,195)
(95)
8,917

Balance, March 31, 2022
Cost
Accumulated depreciation
Closing carrying amount

14,484
(5,567)
8,917
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Total
In thousands of Canadian dollars

$

For the year ended March 31, 2021
Opening carrying amount
Additions

10,924
576

Depreciation

(1,735)

Closing carrying amount

9,765

Balance, March 31, 2021
Cost
Accumulated depreciation
Closing carrying amount

13,165
(3,400)
9,765

Expenses totalling $1,459,389 ($1,553,054 in 2021) were recognized in profit or loss for the year ended
March 31, 2022 in respect of short-term leases and variable lease payments not taken into account
in measuring lease liabilities.
Lease liabilities
As at March 31, 2022, payments due under lease liabilities (including interest) are as follows:
In thousands of Canadian dollars
Less than 1 year
More than 1 year and less than 5 years
More than 5 years
Total undiscounted lease liabilities

$
2,317
5,834
2,717
10,868
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Intangible assets and acquired intangible assets
In thousands of Canadian dollars
Intangible assets
Acquired intangible assets

2022

2021

$

$

8,870
91,907

7,172
12,335

100,777

19,507

a) Intangible assets consist of the following:
Internally
developed
software

In thousands of Canadian dollars

Software

and
websites

Total

$

$

$

For the year ended March 31, 2022
Opening carrying amount
Additions
Additions from business combinations
Write-off cost
Write-off accumulated depreciation
Amortization
Foreign exchange
Closing carrying amount

289

6,883

7,172

27
14

4,747
-

4,774
14

-

(7)
7

(7)
7

(184)
1

(2,890)
(17)

(3,074)
(16)

147

8,723

8,870

6,522

23,108

29,630

(6,375)

(14,385)

(20,760)

Balance, March 31, 2022
Cost
Accumulated amortization
Closing carrying amount

147

8,723

8,870
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Internally
developed
software
and
Software

websites

Total

$

$

$

Opening carrying amount

327

6,580

6,907

Additions
Amortization

174
(212)

3,379
(3,076)

3,553
(3,288)

Closing carrying amount

289

6,883

7,172

16,709
(9,826)

23,761
(16,589)

6,883

7,172

In thousands of Canadian dollars
For the year ended March 31, 2021

Balance, March 31, 2021
Cost
Accumulated amortization

7,052
(6,763)

Closing carrying amount

289

b) Acquired intangible assets comprise the following:

Customer
lists

In thousands of Canadian dollars

Technology

Trademarks

$

Total

$

$

$

8,523

3,812

-

12,335
88,508

For the year ended March 31, 2022
Opening carrying amount
Additions from business
combinations (Note 6)

57,609

23,329

7,570

Amortization
Foreign exchange

(4,955)
(563)

(2,852)
(202)

(295)
(69)

Closing carrying amount

60,614

24,087

7,206

91,907

77,060

44,047

13,900

135,007

(16,446)

(19,960)

(6,694)

(43,100)

60,614

24,087

7,206

91,907

(8,102)
(834)

Balance as at March 31, 2022
Cost
Accumulated amortization
Closing carrying amount
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Customer
lists

In thousands of Canadian dollars

Technology

Trademarks

Total

$

$

$

$

Opening carrying amount
Additions from business

7,182

5,976

-

13,158

combinations (Note 6)
Amortization

2,992
(1,651)

(2,164)

-

2,992
(3,815)

Closing carrying amount

8,523

3,812

-

12,335

Cost

20,070

20,942

6,403

47,415

Accumulated amortization

(11,547)

(17,130)

(6,403)

(35,080)

8,523

3,812

For the year ended March 31, 2021

Balance as at March 31, 2021

Closing carrying amount

-

12,335
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Goodwill
The change in goodwill is as follows:
2022

2021

$

$

101,029
174,583

96,852
4,177

In thousands of Canadian dollars
Balance at beginning of years
Addition from business combinations (Note 6)
Foreign exchange
Balance at end of years

(2,215)
273,397

101,029

For the purpose of impairment testing, with the exception of the goodwill arising from the acquisition
of Periscope, goodwill is tested at the level of the Corporation as a whole since management is of
the opinion that the Corporation as a whole benefits from the synergies of business combinations
completed to date and since this is the lowest level at which goodwill is monitored for internal
management purposes.
During the fourth quarter of the years ended March 31, 2022 and March 31, 2021, the Corporation
performed its annual goodwill impairment tests in accordance with the methods described in Note
3. The recoverable amount exceeded the carrying amount for all of the tests performed. As a result,
no impairment loss was recorded for goodwill for the years ended March 31, 2022 and March 31, 2021.
As at March 31, 2022, the recoverable amounts were determined using either a value in use approach
based on discounted future cash flow projections according to management’s financial budget for
the next fiscal year (i.e., 2023) and the forecasts for the following four years or using a fair value less
costs of disposal model based on a market approach. These future cash flows consider the
Corporation’s historical performance and the current economic situation. They therefore include
significant estimates that may differ from actual results.
The key assumptions used in establishing the recoverable amounts are as follows:
Corporation
without
Key assumptions

Periscope

Periscope

Revenue

Capitalization

multiple

of cash flows

Long-term growth rate

-

4.5%

Terminal value revenue multiple

2x

-

Terminal value method

Pre-tax discount rates

11.6%

16.5%

In the current year, for the Corporation excluding Periscope goodwill impairment test, a decrease of
25% in the terminal value revenue multiple would result in the recoverable value being equal to the
carrying value.
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For the Periscope impairment test, a decrease of 0.2% in the long-term growth rate would result in
the recoverable value being equal to the carrying value. An increase of 0.5% to the discount rate
would also result in the recoverable value being equal to the carrying value.
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Long-term debt
Long-term debt is detailed as follows:

In thousands of Canadian dollars
Previous Term Facility, bearing interest at the bankers’ acceptance rate, plus
3.0%, maturing in October 2023, repaid in full on August 31, 2021

As at
March 31,

As at
March 31,

2022

2021

$

$
-

1,500

Term Facility denominated in USD bearing interest at the LIBOR rate, plus 3.50%,
maturing on August 31, 2024

19,994

-

Revolving Facility denominated in CAD, bearing interest at the bankers’
acceptance rate, plus 2.0% as at March 31, 2022, maturing on August 31, 2024

18,000

-

Revolving Facility denominated in USD, bearing interest at the LIBOR rate, plus
2.0% as at March 31, 2022, maturing on August 31, 2024

12,496

-

50,490

1,500

(728)

Less: Deferred financing fees
Current portion
Long-term portion

-

49,762

1,500

1,500

94

48,262

1,406

As at March 31, 2022
On August 31, 2021, the Corporation and Tim USA Inc., a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Corporation,
entered into a new credit agreement (the “Credit Agreement”) with a Canadian financial institution
under

which

the

lender

has

provided

a

three-year secured revolving facility

(the

“Revolving Facility”) of up to $50,000,000 with an accordion amount on the Revolving Facility up to
$20,000,000 subject to the lender’s approval, and a non-revolving credit facility (the ‘’Term Facility’’)
of up to US$16,000,000. The Credit Agreement matures on August 31, 2024, and any unpaid amounts
are due in full at maturity.
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Revolving Facility
The maximum amount available under the Revolving Facility is calculated monthly using a
percentage

of

the

balance of

eligible accounts receivable

(as

defined

in

the

Credit

Agreement), and a multiple of the Corporation’s monthly recurring revenue (as defined in the Credit
Agreement), up to a maximum amount of $50,000,000. As at March 31, 2022, the maximum
borrowing base under the Revolving Facility was at $50,000,000.
Borrowings under the Revolving Facility can be made by way of the following options: i) prime rate
ii) US dollar base rate loans; iii) bankers’ acceptances; iv) LIBOR; and v) letters of credit up to a
maximum amount of $5,000,000 and for a term not exceeding one year.
Borrowings under the Revolving Facility bear interest at rates varying according to the chosen
option, plus a margin based on the rate of use of the Revolving Facility.
Moreover, starting on August 31, 2021, the unused portion of the Revolving Facility bears interest
at rates from 0.35% to 0.45% as standby fees.
The renegotiation of the Revolving Facility was treated as a modification under IFRS 9 – Financial
instruments and transaction fees of $401,503 associated with the facility and $547,896 associated
with the Previous Credit Agreement were capitalized to the facility as long-term debt in the
consolidated statements of financial position.
Term Facility
The Term Facility of US$16,000,000 is available by way of a single borrowing on the closing date of
the acquisition of Periscope. As at March 31, 2022, the borrowing under the Term facility is at the full
available amount.
Loans under the Term Facility can be made by way of the following options: i) prime rate; ii) U.S.
dollar base rate loans; iii) bankers’ acceptances; and iv) LIBOR.
The Term Facility bears interest at a rate based either on the prime rate or U.S. base rate plus a
margin of 2.25% or on the bankers’ acceptances or LIBOR, plus a margin of 3.50%.
The Term Facility is repayable in equal consecutive monthly payments based on an amortization
rate of 10% per annum starting on September 30, 2022.
As at March 31, 2022, $18,000,000 was drawn on the Revolving Facility in Canadian dollars and
CA$12,496,000 (US$10,000,000) on the Revolving Facility in U.S. dollars. As at March 31, 2022, the
amount drawn on the Term Facility in U.S. dollars was CA$19,993,600 (US$16,000,000).
All obligations under the Credit Agreement are secured by a first-ranking lien on substantially all
of the Corporation’s consolidated assets, tangible and intangible, present and future during the
term of the Credit Agreement.
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The Credit Agreement contains certain financial and restrictive covenants customary for loans of
this nature, including certain limitations to the amounts of investments, acquisitions, dispositions or
sale

of

assets

or

equity

interest

in

subsidiaries,

debt,

capital

expenditures

and

distributions. As at March 31, 2022, the Corporation was in compliance with the financial ratios and
restrictive covenants prescribed as set out in the Credit Agreement.
The renegotiation of the Term Facility was treated as an extinguishment under IFRS 9 – Financial
instruments. Transaction fees of $97,023 associated with the Previous Credit Agreement were
written-off and $114,715 associated with the new facility were capitalized to the facility as long-term
debt in the consolidated statements of financial position.
Deferred financing costs
Deferred financing costs, in the amount of $1,064,114, include legal and consulting fees, regulatory
filing fees and other financing costs incurred in connection with the Credit Agreement. These costs
are amortized over the term of the Credit Agreement. The unamortized portion of deferred financing
costs amounted to $728,073 as of March 31, 2022.
Previous Credit Agreement
All amounts due under the previous credit agreement entered on October 14, 2020 were reimbursed
on August 31, 2021 including the repayment of the term loan of $1,500,000 plus accrued interest.
16

Share capital and accumulated other comprehensive loss
a) Authorized and paid, unlimited number of:


Common shares



Preferred shares, issuable in series with terms, conditions and dividends to be determined
by the Board of Directors upon issuance

b) The following table summarizes common share activity for the years ended March 31, 2022 and
2021:
2022

2021

In thousands

Shares

$

Shares

$

Balance at beginning of years

28,404

216,975

15,052

79,251

15,567

124,290

13,207

143,806

Issuance of common shares
Issuance costs

-

Exercise of warrants

-

-

145

1,168

Deferred taxes on share issuance costs

-

1,675

-

2,509

43,971

336,621

28,404

216,975

Balance at end of years

(6,319)

-

(9,759)
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March 31, 2022
On August 31, 2021, the Corporation completed a bought deal offering on a private placement
basis in relation to the acquisition of Periscope (Note 6).
Under the bought deal offering, a total of 8,480,000 common shares of the Corporation were sold
at a price of $8.00 per common share for an aggregate gross proceed of $67,840,000. The net
proceeds of the investment amounted to $62,975,946, net of fees of $4,864,054.
On August 31, 2021, in relation to the acquisition of Periscope, the Corporation completed a private
placement with Fonds de solidarité FTQ and Investissement Québec, under which a total of
6,577,389 common shares of the Corporation were sold at a price of $8.00 per common share for
aggregate gross proceeds of $52,619,112. The net proceeds of the investment amounted to
$51,182,082, net of fees of $1,437,030.
On August 31, 2021, the Corporation issued 509,438 common shares at a price of $7.52 per common
share for total of $3,830,974 as partial consideration for the purchase price for the acquisition of
Periscope (Note 6). Share issuance costs of $18,045 were recorded relating to this share issuance.
March 31, 2021
On March 15, 2021, the Corporation completed a bought deal offering under which a total of
5,517,242 common shares of the Corporation were sold at a price of $14.50 per common share for
aggregate gross proceeds of $80,000,009. The net proceeds of the investment amounted to
$74,928,978, net of fees of $5,071,031.
On November 6, 2020, the Corporation completed a bought deal offering under which a total of
4,780,550 common shares of the Corporation were sold at a price of $10.00 per common share for
aggregate gross proceeds of $47,805,500, including common shares issued following the full
exercise of the underwriters’ option granted to the underwriters (the “Investment”). The net
proceeds of the investment amounted to $44,587,548, net of fees of $3,217,952.
On May 21, 2020, the Corporation completed a bought deal offering on a private placement basis,
under which a total of 2,909,091 common shares of the Corporation were sold at a price of $5.50
per common share for aggregate gross proceeds of $16,000,001. The net proceeds of the
investment amounted to $14,530,163, net of fees of $1,469,838.
c) Warrants
On May 21, 2020, 145,454 broker warrants were granted to the underwriters in exchange for services
rendered as part of the bought deal offering. Each broker warrant allows for one common share
to be acquired at a price of $6.04, expiring one year after the grant date. All broker warrants were
exercised into common shares during the year ended March 31, 2021 for an aggregate of 145,454
common shares of the Corporation.
The number of warrants outstanding changed as follows during the years ended March 31, 2022
and 2021:
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2022

2021
Weighted-

Weighted-

Number of
options (in

average
exercise

Number of
options (in

average
exercise

thousands)

price

thousands)

price

Outstanding at beginning of years

-

-

-

-

Warrants granted

-

-

145

6.04

Warrants exercised

-

-

(145)

6.04

Outstanding at end of years

-

-

-

-

On November 16, 2020, 30,545 common shares of the Corporation were issued after broker
warrants were exercised for a total amount of $184,370. On December 21, 2020, 98,909 common
shares of the Corporation were issued after broker warrants were exercised for a total amount of
$597,015. On January 19, 2021, 16,000 common shares of the Corporation were issued after brokers
warrants were exercised for a total amount of $96,576.
The warrants granted during the year ended March 31, 2021 have a fair value of $1.99 per warrant
using the Black-Scholes option pricing model based on the following assumptions:
2022

i)

2021

Risk-free interest rate

Nil

0.29%

Expected share yield

Nil

Nil

Expected share price volatility i)

Nil

96.00%

Expected life of the warrants

Nil

1 year

The expected volatility is based on the historical volatility of the Corporation's shares traded in the market.

d) Dividends declared
No dividends were declared or paid during the years ended March 31, 2022 and 2021.
e) Accumulated other comprehensive loss
The components of accumulated other comprehensive loss include as at March 31:
In thousands of Canadian dollars
Cash flow hedges
Net investment hedges
Foreign exchange differences on translation of foreign operations

2022

2021

$

$

-

475

(71)
(1,867)

-

(1,938)

475
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Share-based payment
a)

Stock purchase plan

In July 2004, the Corporation established a stock purchase plan. Certain amendments to the plan
have subsequently been adopted and are in effect since March 31, 2021 for all regular full-time and
part-time employees who are Canadian residents. Directors are not eligible to participate in this
plan. Under the terms of the plan, employees may elect to contribute, through payroll deductions,
up to 10% of their annual income up to a maximum of $20,000 annually to purchase common shares
in the Corporation on the open market. Under the plan, the Corporation purchase shares on the
open market to match employee contributions to the plan up to a maximum contribution of $1,600
per employee ($1,600 in 2021). The Corporation accounted for the employer contribution as wages
and salaries expense in the Consolidated Statements of Loss. Employees must hold the portion of
common shares purchased with the Corporation’s contribution for a period of 12 months. The
purchase price of shares under the plan is equal to the closing bid price of the Corporation’s
common shares on the purchase date. For the years ended March 31, 2022 and 2021, the
compensation expense under this plan was $411,793 and $386,634, respectively.
b)

Stock option plan

On February 11, 2020, the Board of Directors approved a stock option plan for directors, officers and
employees of the Corporation or its subsidiaries. Under the plan, the Corporation may grant a
number of options equal to no more than 10% of its issued and outstanding common shares. The
stock option plan is administered by the Board of Directors, which may determine, in accordance
with the terms of the plan, the terms and conditions of each option, including the extent to which
each option is exercisable during the term of the options. Under the Corporation’s stock option plan,
the exercise price of each stock option is equal to the volume weighted average trading price of the
Corporation’s common shares on the TSX for the five trading days immediately preceding the date
the stock option was granted.
On September 23, 2020, the stock option plan was approved by the Corporation’s shareholders
during the annual general meeting.
For the years ended March 31, 2022 and 2021, the compensation expense under the stock option plan
amounted to $1,072,374 and $467,167 respectively.
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Issued and outstanding stock options changed as follows:
2022

2021
Weighted-

Outstanding at beginning of years
Options granted
Options forfeited or cancelled
Outstanding at end of years

Weighted-

Number of
options (in

average
exercise

Number of
options (in

average
exercise

thousands)

price

thousands)

price

1,027

7.46

700

5.81

527

7.44

497

9.28

(128)

7.27

(170)

6.00

1,426

7.47

1,027

7.46

Of the options outstanding as at March 31, 2022, 25,000 were exercisable (nil as at March 31, 2021).
March 31, 2022
On September 15, 2021, the Corporation granted 30,000 stock options to members of the Board of
Directors at an exercise price of $7.14 per share. These stock options expire ten years after the grant
date and vest on September 1, 2022.
On September 10, 2021, the Corporation granted 497,273 stock options to employees and members
of the Board of Directors at an exercise price of $7.46 per share with various service commencement
dates between April 1, 2021 and September 10, 2021. Of these stock options, 496,023 expire seven years
after the grant date (or after the commencement date, if it precedes the grant date) and one third
of the options will vest on each of the 3rd, 4th and 5th anniversaries of the grant date (or after the
commencement date, if it precedes the grant date). The remaining 1,250 stock options expire ten
years after the grant date and vest over a period of one year.
March 31, 2021
On February 22 and March 23, 2021, the Corporation granted 112,917 and 15,000 stock options
respectively to employees and a member of the Board of Directors at an exercise price of $15.15 and
$12.29 per share. Of these stock options, 125,000 options expire seven years after the grant date and
will vest a third of the total on each of the 3rd, 4th and 5th anniversary of the grant date. The remaining
2,917 stock options expire ten years after the grant date and will vest over a period of one year.
On October 12 and November 20, 2020, the Corporation granted 15,000 and 10,000 stock options
respectively to employees at exercise prices of $9.89 and $8.97 per share. The options expire seven
years after the grant date and will vest a third of the total on each of the 3rd, 4th and 5th anniversary
of the grant date.
On July 8 and September 23, 2020, the Corporation granted 50,000 and 294,000 stock options
respectively to employees and members of the Board of Directors at an exercise price of $5.85 and
$7.43 per share.
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Of these stock options, 314,000 options expire seven years after the grant date and will vest a third
of the total on each of the 3rd, 4th and 5th anniversary of the grant date. The remaining 30,000 stock
options expire 10 years after the grant date and will vest over a period of one year.
The weighted average fair value of the options granted during the year ended March 31, 2022 was
$1,788,304 or $3.39 per option ($2,183,671 or $4.39 per option for 2021) using the Black-Scholes option
pricing model with the following weighted average assumptions:

Risk-free interest rate

2022

2021

0.86%

0.37%

Nil

Nil

50.78%

49.85%

5.4 years

5.0 years

Expected dividend yield
Expected share price volatility
Expected term of the options

The expected volatility is based on the historical volatility of the Corporation's share price traded in
the market. The risk-free rate interest rate is equal to the yield available on government of Canada
bonds at the grant date with a term that approximates the expected terms of the options.
As at March 31, 2022, issued and outstanding stock options were detailed as follows:

Exercise price ($)

Remaining
weighted average

Weightedaverage

options (in
thousands)

contractual life
(in years)

exercise price
($)

5.81 – 5.85

550

4.93

5.81

7.14 - 9.89

756

6.33

7.51

12.29 - 15.15

120

5.91

14.79

1,426

5.75

7.47

Total

18

Number of

Loss per share
Basic loss per share is calculated by dividing the net loss attributable to shareholders of the
Corporation by the weighted average number of common shares outstanding during the period.
Diluted loss per share is calculated by adjusting the net loss attributable to shareholders of the
Corporation by the weighted average number of common shares outstanding that would have
been outstanding for the period assuming the conversion of all dilutive instruments.
The Corporation’s potentially dilutive instruments include stock options and warrants, which are
excluded from the calculation in periods during which they are anti-dilutive.
For the years ended March 31, 2022 and 2021, all outstanding stock options were excluded from the
calculation of the diluted loss per share since the impact would have been anti-dilutive as the
Corporation is in a net loss position. As a result, diluted loss per share is equal to basic loss per share.
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19

Technology
2022

2021

$

$

Technology costs incurred
Tax credits

35,957
(5,328)

28,399
(5,116)

Capitalized internally-developed software and websites i)

30,629
(4,747)

23,283
(3,379)

2,890

3,076

28,772

22,980

In thousands of Canadian dollars

Amortization of capitalized internally-developed software and websites

Capitalized internally developed software and websites are shown net of tax credits of $945,336 ($1,002,303 in 2021). These
tax credits were capitalized as they are related to internally developed software and websites.
i)

Commitments
The amount of the minimum fixed and determinable portion of the material unconditional purchase
obligations over the next three years with service providers is $11,800,000.
20 Expenses by type
Operating loss includes the following items:
In thousands of Canadian dollars
Total acquisition related costs
Amortization and depreciation
Property and equipment

2022

2021

$

$

5,257

337

966

929

Intangible assets
Acquired intangible assets

3,074
8,102

3,288
3,815

Right-of-use assets

2,195

1,735

14,337

9,767

77,673
1,072

56,305
467

789

1,476

79,534

58,248

Total amortization and depreciation
Employee benefit expenses
Salaries and employee benefits i)
Share-based compensation
Termination benefits
Tax credits
Total employee benefit expenses

(5,328)
74,206

(5,116)
53,132

Due to the COVID-19 pandemic, the Corporation and some of its subsidiaries qualified for the Canada Emergency Wage
Subsidy (“CEWS”). For the year ended March 31, 2022, salaries and benefits were presented net of the CEWS in the amount
of $864,726 ($3,429,542 in 2021).
i)
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21

Income taxes
a)

The income tax recovery consists of the following:
2022

2021

$

$

In thousands of Canadian dollars
Current tax expense
Current taxes
Adjustments recognized during the year for current taxes of prior years

(544)

(724)

(682)

162

Deferred tax expense
Deferred tax expense relating to the origination and reversal of temporary
differences
Unrecognized temporary differences
Adjustments recognized during the year for the deferred tax of prior years
Effect of change in statutory rate on deferred taxes
Income tax recovery

(4,693)
2,366

(923)
-

803
(166)

(133)
-

(2,916)

(1,618)

b) The income tax recovery is calculated using an actual tax rate that differs from the statutory
tax rate for the following reasons:

Weighted-average statutory tax rate
Increase (decrease) arising from:
Geographic distribution of operating profits

2022

2021

%

%

26.50

26.50

(1.83)

0.27

Non-taxable revenues (non-deductible expenses and other)
Changes to the expected method of recovering the carrying amount of

(5.22)

(6.69)

assets
Change in statutory rate

(0.04)
0.62

(0.03)
-

Unrecognized temporary differences
Prior-year tax adjustments and contributions

(8.81)
(0.36)

(0.59)
(1.88)

Actual tax rate

10.86

17.58

The tax rates for 2022 and 2021 in the reconciliation above, are the tax rates applied to the taxable
income of Canadian companies under tax law in this jurisdiction.
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Reconciliation of deferred tax assets (liabilities) by type of temporary differences recognized in the Consolidated Statements of

Balance as at March 31, 2020
(Expense) deferred tax recovery for the
year recognized in loss
Foreign exchange impact from
remeasurement of deferred taxes
Deferred tax recovery for the year
related to other comprehensive loss
Issuance of common shares in the
share capital
Balance as at March 31, 2021
(Expense) deferred tax recovery for the
year recognized in loss
Foreign exchange impact from
remeasurement of deferred taxes
Deferred tax recovery for the year
related to other comprehensive loss
Business combinations
Issuance of common shares in the
share capital
Balance as at March 31, 2022

Other

Total

development

$

Tax credits

$

Tax losses

$

Research and

$

Financing costs

$

instruments

Lease liabilities

$

Derivative financial

Provision

$

Intangible assets

In thousands of Canadian dollars

equipment

Property and

Financial Position:

$

$

$

$

(997)

(11,009)

28

3,017

238

(6)

502

7,888

(2,257)

108

(2,488)

210

995

(3)

(88)

-

(503)

-

727

(307)

25

1,056

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

(320)

-

-

(320)

-

-

-

-

(409)

-

-

-

-

-

(409)

-

-

-

-

-

2,509

-

-

-

-

2,509

(787)

(10,014)

25

2,929

(171)

2,000

502

8,295

(2,564)

133

348

(163)

1,264

137

187

6

(804)

-

551

(1,028)

1,529

1,679

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

116

-

-

116

-

-

-

-

165

-

-

-

-

-

-

(17,649)

284

-

-

-

-

4,884

-

(971)

-

-

-

-

-

1,675

-

-

-

-

(950)

(26,399)

446

3,116

-

2,871

502

13,846

(3,592)

691

165
(13,452)
1,675
(9,469)
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The following balances were recognized in the Consolidated Statements of Financial Position:

In thousands of Canadian dollars
Deferred tax assets
Deferred tax liabilities

March 31,
2022

March 31,
2021

$

$

3,580
(13,049)

6,268
(5,920)

(9,469)

348

Tax risk
In the normal course of business, the Corporation is subject to reviews by the tax authorities in the
jurisdictions where it conducts business. These authorities may contest or refuse some of the
positions taken by management. The Corporation periodically examines the possibility of
unfavourable outcomes from tax audits and makes provisions for this purpose if the Corporation
considers that an unfavourable outcome may occur.

Deferred tax losses
As at March 31, 2022, the Corporation’s U.S. subsidiaries had accumulated net operating losses at
the federal level of approximately $59,052,347 (US$47,257,000) for tax purposes. Some of these
losses are limited to a maximum annual amount and expire from 2023 through 2041. Consequently,
an amount of approximately $32,966,947 (US$26,382,000) in losses can never be used against future
taxable income. A deferred tax asset has been recognized on a deferred tax loss amount of
$26,085,400 (US$20,875,000). Deferred tax assets amounting to $2,366,000 have not been
recognized on certain Canadian net operating losses of $8,928,000 (expiring from 2038 to 2042)
because these net operating losses are not more likely than not to be recovered.
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22

Related party transactions
Compensation of key officers
The following table presents the compensation of members of the Corporation’s Board of directors
and the management team for the years ended March 31, 2022 and 2021:
In thousands of Canadian dollars

2022

2021

$

$

Members of the Board of directors
Directors’ fees
Share-based compensation
Management team
Short-term employee benefits
Termination benefits
Share-based compensation

338
93

211
49

4,045

4,120

616

1,006
282

5,092

5,668

The Corporation’s management team’s compensation is set by the Board of Directors of the
Corporation upon the recommendation of the Human Resources and Corporate Governance
Committee, and is based on individual and Corporate performance objectives, as well as market
trends.
23 Supplementary statements of Loss and cash flow information
a) Changes in non-cash operating working capital items are as follows:
In thousands of Canadian dollars
Decrease (increase) in:
Trade and other receivables
Unbilled receivables
Tax credits receivable
Prepaid expenses and deposits
Increase (decrease) in:
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
Deferred revenues

2022

2021

$

$

(133)

(4,451)

(1,902)
(872)

(1,869)

(625)

184

(8,810)
7,634

1,537
2,166

(4,438)

(2,433)

19,399

288

14,691

(2,145)

Changes in non-cash operating working capital
excluding Other accounts payable
Other accounts payable i)

i)

Other accounts payable represent the offsetting entry of Cash held for the benefit of third parties on the Consolidated

Statements of Financial Position.
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During the year ended March 31, 2022, the Corporation reclassified amounts of $78,715 ($211,000 in
2021) from Tax credits receivable to Income taxes payable as the Corporation expects to be able to
use these tax attributes against income taxes payable during the upcoming fiscal year.
During the year ended March 31, 2022, the Corporation issued shares for a fair value of $3,830,974
related to the settlement of a business combination (Notes 6 and 16b)).
b) Finance expenses consists of the following:
In thousands of Canadian dollars

2022

2021

$

$

Amortization of deferred financing costs

368

135

Interest on lease liabilities
Interest on long-term debt

386
967

381
536

Interest income
Other finance costs

(517)
101
1,305

(61)
991

24 Capital management
The Corporation’s capital management objective is to ensure it has sufficient liquidity to pursue its
organic growth strategy, to make selective acquisitions, and to provide an appropriate return on
investment to its shareholders.
Based on current projections, the Corporation has sufficient capital resources available to maintain
its capacity to meet working capital requirements, to support the Corporation’s planned growth,
fund the activities of its business plan, and maintain an appropriate level of capital spending.
When necessary, the Corporation may borrow on its Revolving Facility or issue new shares to fund
its additional cash requirements and business acquisitions.
Other than the financial ratios described in Note 15 and required by a financial institution, the
Corporation’s capital is not subject to any externally imposed capital requirements, and the
Corporation does not currently use any quantitative measures to manage its capital.
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25 Financial risk management
The Corporation’s financial assets and financial liabilities expose it to the following risks: market risk,
including foreign currency risk and interest rate risk, credit risk, and liquidity risk. The Corporation’s
main risk management objective is to ensure that risks are properly identified and mitigated to
minimize likely adverse effects on financial performance.
The Board of Directors is responsible for risk management, which includes identifying and assessing
risks in close cooperation with management. Management is responsible for designing and
implementing adequate internal controls and procedures to ensure that financial risks are
mitigated.
Foreign currency risk
Foreign currency risk arises from transactions in foreign currencies, primarily the U.S. dollar. Foreign
currency risk may also arise from future sale and purchase transactions and from financial assets
and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies.
Following the change in functional currency described in note 3, the Corporation discontinued the
previous cash flow hedges involving its foreign currency forward contracts and re-designated them
as part of a net investment hedge.
Consequently, starting October 1, 2021, the Corporation manages the foreign currency translation
risk of its investments in U.S. dollar in part through the designation of its U.S. dollar foreign currency
forward contracts as a hedge against net investments in foreign operations. Foreign currency
forward contracts are used only for managing foreign currency risk and not for speculative
purposes.
The Corporation designates the spot component of the U.S. dollar forward as the hedging
instrument. As only the spot rate component of the forward contract is designated in the hedging
relationship, no ineffectiveness is expected and no ineffectiveness was recognized in the
Consolidated Statement of Loss for the year ended March 31, 2022.
The hedged foreign currency risk component is the change in the carrying amount of the net assets
of the foreign operations arising from spot U.S. dollar to Canadian dollar exchange rate movements.
At March 31, 2022, a nominal of US$4,875,000 of foreign currency forward contracts was designated
in a net investment hedge relationship (2021 – US$9,300,000 designated in a cash flow hedge
relationship).
The following table details the arrangements settled as hedging instruments. The contracts are to
buy in Canadian dollars and to sell in U.S. dollars:
2022

2021

Notional amount (thousands of US$)

4,875

9,300

Weighted-average foreign exchange rate (US$/CA$)
Maturity dates (fiscal years)

1.2553
2023

1.3261
2022-2023
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The balances in foreign currencies are as follows:
In thousands of dollars

2022
US$

2021
US$

Cash and cash equivalents
Trade and other receivables

2,468
1,008

8,632
2,056

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
Long-term debt

(459)
(26,000)

(376)
-

Total in foreign currencies

(22,983)

10,312

Total in Canadian dollars

(28,719)

12,967

A 5.0% appreciation of the Canadian dollar against the U.S. dollar would have had the following
impact on consolidated loss and other comprehensive loss:
In thousands of Canadian dollars

2022
$

Decrease (increase) in loss

1,436

Increase in Other comprehensive loss

(1)

2021
$
(214)
(605)

A 5.0% decline of the Canadian dollar against the U.S. dollar would have had the opposite impact
on consolidated loss and other comprehensive loss.
Interest rate risk
Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will
fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates. Financial assets and financial liabilities with
variable interest rates expose the Corporation to cash flow risk. The Corporation’s cash and cash
equivalents earn interest at market rates.
The Corporation is exposed to interest rate risk through the facilities under the Credit Agreement. An
increase in reference rates, such as LIBOR and bankers’ acceptances, on floating-rate financial
obligations would have a negative, but not significant, impact on cash flows . All other things being
equal, a reasonably possible 1.0% increase in the interest rate applicable to the monthly balances
of the facilities under the Credit Agreement would have had a negative impact of $309,141 and
$129,943 on the Corporation’s consolidated loss for the years ended March 31, 2022 and 2021,
respectively. A 1.0% decrease in the interest rate would have had the opposite impact on the
Corporation’s consolidated loss.
Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk that the Corporation will incur a financial loss because a customer or other
counterparty to a financial instrument fails to meet its contractual obligations.
The Corporation’s exposure to credit risk arises mainly from cash and cash equivalents, cash held
for the benefit of third parties, trade and other receivables and unbilled receivables.
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Cash and cash equivalents and cash held for the benefit of third parties are maintained at major
financial institutions; therefore, the Corporation considers the credit risk on these instruments to be
insignificant.
Based on its past experience, the Corporation believes that the credit risk associated with its trade
and other receivables as well as unbilled receivables is low. The Corporation generally does not
require collateral for its trade receivables. Its trade receivables are not concentrated with any
specific customers but rather with a broad range of customers. The Corporation establishes an
allowance for doubtful accounts for receivables deemed uncollectible. The allowance for doubtful
accounts is based on an individual analysis of trade receivables and an overall analysis that takes
into account the current economic environment, such as the COVID-19 pandemic, and historical
trends in observed losses. The Corporation did not provide for an allowance for doubtful accounts
on unbilled receivables, as all amounts were deemed collectible
In light of the above, the Corporation believes that credit risk is not significant.
The carrying amount of the Corporation’s trade and other receivables is presented net of the
allowance for doubtful accounts.
Changes in the allowance for the years ended March 31, 2022 and 2021 are as follows:

In thousands of Canadian dollars

2022

2021

$

$

Balance at beginning of years
Write-offs

(294)
178

(207)
394

Expense for the year

(353)

(481)

Balance at end of years

(469)

(294)
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As at March 31, the aging of trade and other receivables is as follows:
2022

2021

$

$

In thousands of Canadian dollars
Current

6,766

3,119

Past due
1 - 30 days

2,933

4,127

31 - 60 days
61 - 90 days

1,261
397

1,067
283

Over 90 days

578

326

11,935

8,922

Total trade and other receivables

There is no impairment or amounts past due other than those related to trade and other
receivables.
Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Corporation will be unable to meet its obligations as they fall due. To
manage liquidity risk, the Corporation ensures that it has adequate cash to meet its obligations
when they fall due.
As at March 31, 2022, the Corporation has the contractual obligations including financial instrument
liabilities and other contractual cash flow commitments:

Carrying
amount

Less than 1
year

$

$

Accounts payable and
accrued liabilities
Other accounts payable

than 5 years
$

More than
5 years

Total

$

$

21,193

21,193

-

-

21,193

20,544

20,544

-

-

20,544

729

49

684

-

733

50,490
9,752

2,886
2,317

50,749
5,834

2,717

53,635
10,868

102,708

46,989

57,267

2,717

106,973

Purchase price contingent
consideration
Long-term debt i) ii)
Lease liabilities iii)

More than 1
year and less

i)

Carrying amount excludes deferred financing fees.

ii)

Contractual cash flow commitments exclude deferred financing fees and include payment of capital and interest.

iii)

Includes payment of capital and interest.
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Fair value of financial instruments
Financial instruments recognized at fair value are classified using a hierarchy that reflects the
significance of the inputs used to measure the fair value.
The fair value hierarchy requires that observable market inputs be used whenever such inputs exist.
A financial instrument is classified in the lowest level of the hierarchy for which a significant input
has been used to measure fair value.
An entity’s own credit risk and the credit risk of the counterparty, in addition to the credit risk of the
financial instrument, were factored into the fair value determination of the financial assets and
financial liabilities, including derivative instruments. All financial instruments measured at fair value
in the Consolidated Statements of Financial Position were classified according to a three-level
hierarchy:


Level 1: valuation based on quoted prices (unadjusted) observed in active markets for
identical assets or liabilities.



Level 2: valuation techniques based on inputs that are quoted prices of similar instruments
in active markets; quoted prices for identical or similar instruments in markets that are not
active; inputs other than quoted prices used in a valuation model that are observable for the
instrument being valued; and inputs that are derived mainly from or corroborated by
observable market data using correlation or other forms of relationship.



Level 3: Valuation techniques based significantly on inputs that are not observable in the
market.

The Corporation’s policy is to recognize transfers made between different hierarchy levels at the
date of the event or change in circumstances that caused the transfer. There were no transfers
between levels during the years ended March 31, 2022 and 2021.
The following table presents the financial instruments measured at fair value on a recurring basis,
classified using the hierarchy described above:
As at
March 31,
2022
In thousands of Canadian dollars
Financial assets
Derivative financial instruments

Level 1
$

Level 2
$

Level 3
$

Total
$

-

22

-

22

-

-

729

729

Financial liabilities
Purchase price contingent consideration
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As at
March 31,
2021
In thousands of Canadian dollars

Level 1

Level 2

Level 3

Total

$

$

$

$

Financial assets
Derivative financial instruments
Financial liabilities
Purchase price contingent consideration

-

645

-

645

-

-

-

-

The fair value of the derivative financial instruments is an asset of $22,237 (US$17,795) and reflects
the estimated amounts that the Corporation would receive if the contracts had been settled as at
March 31, 2022, using relevant market rates. As at March 31, 2021, the fair value of derivative financial
instruments was an asset of $645,205 (US$513,085).
Level 3
The fair value of purchase price contingent consideration is determined using a discounted cash
flow analysis which makes use of unobservable inputs such as expected cash flows and risk
adjusted discount rates.
Expected cash flows are estimated based on the terms of the contractual arrangements and the
Corporation’s knowledge of the business and how the current economic environment is likely to
impact it.
The fair value of the purchase price contingent consideration is determined based on a discounted
cash flow model. The main Level 3 inputs used by the Corporation to value the purchase price
contingent consideration is the discount rate. A 1% change in the discount rate would not have a
significant change in the fair value.
The reconciliation of Level 3 fair value purchase price contingent consideration measurements is as
follows:
In thousands of Canadian dollars
Fair value as at March 31, 2021
Acquisition
Change in fair value of purchase price contingent consideration
Settlement of purchase price contingent consideration
Foreign exchange difference
Fair value as at March 31, 2022

$
979
294
(533)
(11)
729
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The fair value of cash and cash equivalents, trade and other receivables, accounts payable and
accrued liabilities and other accounts payable approximates their carrying amounts due to their
short-term maturities.
The fair value of long-term debt is not significantly different from its carrying amount as the
contractual interest rate is close to the interest rate that the Corporation could have had on a similar
financial instrument.
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